
 

 
AGENDA 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
5000 CLARK AVENUE 

LAKEWOOD, CALIFORNIA 
 

October 24, 2023 
 
 
 
ADJOURNED MEETING: 6:00 p.m. 
NORTH CITY HALL OFFICE IMPROVEMENTS –  EXECUTIVE BOARD ROOM 
Staff recommends the City Council appropriate $850,000 from the General Fund for City Hall Office 
Improvements from the Measure L reserve for Capital Improvements; authorize staff to negotiate and 
execute a change order to Empire Design and Build, in the amount of $522,250; authorize staff to issue 
purchase order to D & R Office Works for additional furniture, in the amount of $198,000; and authorize 
additional project contingency of $130,000. 
 
LAKEWOOD EQUESTRIAN CENTER MANAGEMENT AND OPERATIONS 
 
 
CALL TO ORDER 7:30 p.m. 
 
INVOCATION:  Dr. Fardad Mogharabi, Spiritual Assembly of the Baha'is of Lakewood 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  Scout Troop 4513 
 
ROLL CALL: Mayor Ariel Pe 
 Vice Mayor Todd Rogers 
 Council Member Cassandra Chase 
 Council Member Steve Croft 
 Council Member Jeff Wood 
 
ANNOUNCEMENTS AND PRESENTATIONS: 
Presentation by Captain Dan Holguin, Lakewood Sheriff’s Station, Regarding Quarterly Public Safety 
Report 
 
ROUTINE ITEMS: 
All items listed within this section of the agenda are considered to be routine and will be enacted by one 
motion without separate discussion.  Any Member of Council may request an item be removed for 
individual discussion or further explanation.  All items removed shall be considered immediately 
following action on the remaining items. 
 
RI-1 MEETING MINUTES - Staff recommends City Council approve Minutes of the Meetings held 

July 25, August 22, September 12, September 26, and October 10, 2023 
 
RI-2 PERSONNEL TRANSACTIONS - Staff recommends City Council approve report of personnel 

transactions. 
 
RI-3 REGISTERS OF DEMANDS - Staff recommends City Council approve registers of demands. 
 
RI-4 CITY COUNCIL COMMITTEES’ ACTIVITIES - Staff recommends City Council receive and file 

the report. 



City Council Agenda 
October 24, 2023 
Page 2 

 
ROUTINE ITEMS: - Continued 
RI-5 MONTHLY REPORT OF INVESTMENT TRANSACTIONS - SEPTEMBER 2023 - Staff 

recommends City Council receive and file the report. 
 
RI-6 QUARTERLY SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 - Staff 

recommends City Council receive and file report. 
 
RI-7 APPROVAL OF AGREEMENT WITH KILEY AND ASSOCIATES FOR FEDERAL 

GOVERNMENTAL RELATIONS SERVICES – Staff recommends City Council authorize the 
City Manager or his designee to enter into an agreement with Kiley and Associates for FY 2023-24 
in the amount of $45,000 for Federal governmental relations services. 

 
RI-8 RATIFY PURCHASE OF BUCKET TRUCK - Staff recommends the City Council appropriate 

$31,477 from the General Fund for purchase of bucket truck and associated costs for installation of 
aerial lift; and ratify the purchase of 2023 Ford F-550 bucket truck from Santa Margarita Ford, in 
the amount of $198,337.47. 

 
RI-9 LAKEWOOD EQUESTRIAN CENTER MANAGEMENT AND OPERATIONS- Staff 

recommends the City Council authorize the Mayor to execute the Professional Services Agreement 
with D. Joy Gould dba Hacienda Sosegado LLC to serve as the Lakewood Equestrian Center 
Manager at a contract rate of subject to approval of City Attorney as to form.  The term of the 
agreement is 18 months commencing November 1, 2023 and terminating on April 30, 2025, at a 
contract rate not to exceed $21,673 per month and not to exceed $390,114 for total term of 
agreement; appropriate $1,075,991 from General Fund for annual expenses to manage and operate 
the Lakewood Equestrian Center: $70,500 for startup expenses; $208,384 for contractual services; 
$100,767 for part-time personnel; $152,640 for utilities, trash, manure and internet services; 
$543,700 for special supplies; and instruct Administrative Services to create revenue and expense 
accounts for the Lakewood Equestrian Center with the requested fund and revenue estimates as 
recommended in report. 

 
LEGISLATION: 
2.1 RESOLUTIONS FOR THE 2024 GENERAL MUNICIPAL ELECTION CALLING THE 

ELECTION, RESOLUTION NO. 2023-66; REQUESTING THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES TO CONSOLIDATE ELECTION, RESOLUTION NO. 
2023-67; AND ADOPTING REGULATIONS FOR CANDIDATES FOR ELECTIVE OFFICE, 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-68 - Staff recommends City Council adopt proposed resolutions. 

 
REPORTS: 
3.1 APPROVAL OF CHANGE ORDER NO. 1 TO ALL CITIES ENGINEERING INC., TO INSTALL 

PVC PIPE IN SANDWOOD STREET AS PART OF THE FY 2024 WATER MAIN 
REPLACEMENT PROJECT - Staff recommends the City Council approve Change Order No. 1 to 
All Cities Engineering Inc., in the amount of $433,420 to install 1,360 feet of 8” PVC pipe in 
Sandwood Street between Levelside Avenue and Downey Avenue and authorize staff to issue 
corresponding change order. 

 
3.2 QUARTERLY BUDGET REPORT OF MAJOR FUNDS AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 - Staff 

recommends City Council receive and file the report. 
 
3.3 2023 HALLOWEEN CARNIVALS PREVIEW – Staff recommends City Council receive and file 

the report. 
 



City Council Agenda 
October 24, 2023 
Page 3 

 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you are a qualified individual with a disability and need an 
accommodation to participate in the City Council meeting, please contact the City Clerk’s Office, 5050 Clark Avenue, Lakewood, 

CA, at 562/866-9771, ext. 2200; or at cityclerk@lakewoodcity.org at least 48 hours in advance to ensure that reasonable 
arrangements can be made to provide accessibility to the meeting. 

 
Agenda items are on file in the Office of the City Clerk, 5050 Clark Avenue, Lakewood, and are available for public review 

during regular business hours.  Any supplemental material distributed after the posting of the agenda will be made available for 
public inspection during normal business hours in the City Clerk’s Office.  For your convenience, the agenda and the supporting 

documents are available in an alternate format by request and are also posted on the City’s website at www.lakewoodcity.org 

WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS: 
CORRESPONDENCE FROM THE GREATER LOS ANGELES COUNTY VECTOR CONTROL 
DISTRICT REGARDING APPOINTMENT OF CITY REPRESENTATIVE - Staff recommends City 
Council appoint City’s representative to Greater Los Angeles County Vector Control District Board of 
Trustees. 
 
ORAL COMMUNICATIONS: 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 



 











REVISED 

ADJ-2 

COUNCIL AGENDA 
October 24, 2023 

 
 
 
TO:  The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
SUBJECT: Lakewood Equestrian Center Management and Operations 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 
Before the City Council is a report on the future management and operation of the Lakewood 
Equestrian Center (LEC) and a request to approve contractual agreements and funding to provide 
continuity in services for horse boarding, care and training; horse riding lessons; and equestrian 
activities, which invite the greater Lakewood community to engage in equine and outdoor 
education.  This report also details past and current management of the LEC and the circumstances, 
which have contributed to the city’s need be more directly involved in LEC operations.   
 
STATEMENT OF FACT 
The city is the owner and licensee of the LEC property, and will assume management of the 
equestrian center beginning November 1, 2023. The Caretaker Management Agreement with 
Sonya Jahn dba SJ Equestrian LLC (SJE) ends on October 31, 2023. Managing the LEC is a 
challenging task, made even more so because of county, state and federal regulations that must be 
followed and to which the city is legally bound to carry out as the owner and licensee of the LEC. 
To help meet all of those regulations and other complexities of running an equestrian center, the 
city has decided that it must take on a more direct role in the management of the LEC.  
  
In support of the future management plan, the city will contract with D. Joy Gould dba Hacienda 
Sosegado to provide horse boarding care which includes daily feeding of horses in boarding and 
daily cleaning of boarding units.  Hacienda Sosegado will also serve in a consulting role to city 
staff and provide customer service support to horse boarders, horse trainers and vendors at the 
LEC. Ms. Gould is an equestrian specialist, experienced in the day-to-day operations of managing 
horse stables and comes highly recommended as the current manager of the Whittier Narrows 
Equestrian Center.  
 
LEC HistoryRI-9 
An equestrian facility has been on the property since 1946 when Glenn Spiller purchased the land 
and adorned it the Lakewood Stables. Spiller sold the property to Juan de Cordova in January 1976 
and the city purchased the property from Juan de Cordova on December 28, 1979 using Land and 
Water Conservation Funds. Mr. de Cordova continued managing the LEC until the city’s lease 
agreement began with Sandie Mercer Ranch, Inc. in May of 1987.  
 
  



Lakewood Equestrian Center Management and Operations  
October 24, 2023 
Page 2 
 
 
Request for Proposal and Request for Qualifying Information 
From that time to October of 2020, Sandie Mercer Ranch, Inc. coordinated equestrian activities 
and boarding facilities for horses at the Lakewood Equestrian Center (LEC). Anticipating the end 
of the contractual agreement between the city and Sandie Mercer Ranch, Inc., in 2019, the city 
solicited a Request for Proposals seeking an individual, company, or organization with proven 
equestrian management experience, equine care and maintenance expertise, and the financial 
ability to fund capital improvements to maintain a full service equestrian facility for public 
boarding, equine training, and recreational uses. The city offered a long-term lease option in hopes 
of enticing a qualified lessee to invest in the facility and have the time to realize a fair market 
return on their investment. 
 
The result of that process did not conclude with finding an entity that met the required 
qualifications the city sought after. The city did receive several proposals from individuals 
interested in continuing existing programs and facilities, but not having the capital needed for 
necessary facility improvements. The lack of interest for a private investment in exchange for a 
long-term lease was due to several factors. The LEC is encumbered with a Southern California 
Edison (Edison) right-of-way for electrical towers and power lines down the middle of the property 
and Edison will only provide the city with a license agreement in five-year increments and has 
restricted the type of uses that can be made under the utility’s lines. The facility also lacked quality 
maintenance and an investment in capital improvements over the three decades it was operated by 
Sandie Mercer Ranch, Inc. The deferred maintenance of the LEC during this time resulted in 
extraordinary estimated expenses for capital improvements to bring the facility up to safety 
standards and building and safety codes and provide the type of horse boarding stalls, barns, arenas, 
and equestrian amenities necessary to successfully operate a full-service equestrian center. 
 
While the city did receive interest from qualified investors, none submitted a proposal indicating 
concerns that their investment would not be returned due to Edison’s restricted use of the site; cost 
of capital improvements; and the fact that the facility is on public property and subject to the 
California Public Contract Code and prevailing wage requirements.  Additionally, the competitive 
market rates charged for boarding and training proved to be insufficient to cover the costs of 
operations and provide a return on capital investment. 
 
Failing to receive a proposal for private investment in exchange for a long-term lease, beginning 
November 1, 2020, the city decided to enter into an interim caretaker management agreement with 
SJE. This agreement maintained existing services and programs offered at the LEC and gave the 
city time to make critical improvements so that the facility met safety, building, and environmental 
codes. All the while, the City continued its quest for a long-term lessee and private investment in 
the facility by publishing a Request for Qualifications and Interest (RFQI).  The RFQI was 
marketed on a local, state and national level through equestrian industry magazines and newsletters 
for six months allowing potential responders sufficient time to research the facility and determine 
their interest.  This period was congruent with the city’s timed progress report with the interim 
caretaker and provided the city adequate time to explore other options should the RFQI fail to yield 
desired results.  



Lakewood Equestrian Center Management and Operations  
October 24, 2023 
Page 3 
 
 
Responses to the RFQI were due to the city in May 2021, with no success in garnering a proposal, 
which matched the city’s interest.  In fact, only one proposal was received and it was received past 
the advertised due date. Staff reviewed the proposal despite its late submission and determined 
that the proposal did not demonstrate the ability to invest in the capital improvements needed at 
the facility and the proposer’s terms were not congruent with the best interest of the city. 
 
SJ Equestrian LLC. 
Extending the terms and conditions of the Interim Caretaker Management Contract for Lakewood 
Equestrian Center, SJE continued to manage the equestrian activities and boarding facilities for 
horses at the Lakewood Equestrian Center. The 19-acre facility operates seven days a week from 
dawn to dusk to serve the local equine community along with neighborhood youth groups. The 
equestrian center’s primary functions are horse boarding, horse training and providing riding 
lessons. There are approximately 150 horses currently boarded at the facility. Through sub-
contracted services, the equestrian center also offers a petting zoo, pony rides, camps, birthday 
parties and youth education in equine care.  
 
Given the known challenges of managing a private entity on public property, the complexities of 
adhering to the contractual requirements of the Edison License Agreement and the difficulties of 
securing a long-term lessee, the city will assume managerial and administrative oversight of the 
LEC at the conclusion of the current agreement with SJE. 
 
LEC Management and Operation 
The city will invite all current LEC personnel, equestrian trainers and vendors to continue serving 
the LEC community. Most of all the current boarding rates and the cost for feed will remain in 
place for the first six months of the city’s management.  Staff will assess and propose rate 
adjustments following a six-month analysis of all revenue and expenses.  
 
City staff are actively preparing to take on the management and operations of the LEC. Newly 
drafted agreements for horse boarding, horse training and vendors are being developed.  Part-time 
city employees are being recruited and trained to assist with administrative and maintenance task. 
The need for equipment and supplies are being identified and purchased.  Vendor accounts are 
being set up with equine suppliers, utility companies and contractors to perform specialized work. 
 
Staff will continue to keep the LEC community informed by hosting quarterly user meetings 
including an initial information meeting on Wednesday, October 25.  The upcoming meeting will 
update all current users at the LEC of the roles and responsibilities of the city, Hacienda Sosegado 
and current users beginning November 1, 2023. 
 
Financial Impact 
Using the average boarding occupancy numbers and rates, trailer parking fees collected and 
revenue share from the petting zoo and pony ride operation, the city estimates revenue totals for 
the remaining eight months of the current fiscal year to be approximately $1,024,760. 
 



Lakewood Equestrian Center Management and Operations  
October 24, 2023 
Page 4 
 
 
As the city assumes its leadership, startup expenses are estimated at $70,500. Items to be purchased 
include maintenance supplies, office furniture, facility signage, a utility vehicle, a storage bin, 
security cameras, and other miscellaneous supplies such as employee uniforms. 
 
Estimated expenses also include contracted services to be provided by Hacienda Sosegado. 
Hacienda Sosegado will bill the city semi-monthly for their professional services depending on 
the number of horses in boarding. The city will enter into an agreement with Hacienda Sosegado 
beginning November 1, 2023, for an eighteen-month period ending April 30, 2025, at a contracted 
rate not to exceed $390,114 for the total eighteen-month term of the agreement. The expense for 
services from Hacienda Sosegado for the remaining eight months of the current fiscal year is 
$173,384. 
 
Additional expenses for the remaining eight months of the current fiscal year are tabled below. 
Contracted Skilled Trade Work $35,000 
City Part-time Personnel $                 143,862 

 
Utilities and Contract Services for trash and manure removal $ 152,640 
*Edison License Agreement $42,788.73 
Special Supplies including feed, shavings, fuel and rental of portable 
restroom 

$543,700 

*The city’s expense for the Southern California Edison License Agreement is approved in the 
current fiscal year’s budget and due to Edison on January 1, 2024.  Staff will reassign these funds 
to the expense account created for the city’s management of the Lakewood Equestrian Center. No 
additional funds need approval to fulfill this obligation. 
 
The estimated expenditures for the city’s management of the LEC do not account for any planned 
capital improvement projects including, but not limited to: tack shed and locker replacement; horse 
boarding stall replacement; new fencing for horse riding arenas; new paved driveways; and annual 
maintenance of the footing in each of the nine arenas. The financial investment needed to fund 
capital improvement projects at the LEC requires a facilities condition assessment conducted by a 
qualified business entity who has an expertise in equestrian facility design, construction and 
maintenance. 
 
Absent the city’s startup expenses, the total estimated operating expenses for the city to manage 
and operate the LEC is approximately $1,091,374.73 for the remaining eight months of the current 
fiscal year. Although, the estimated expenditures depict a shortfall of $66,614.73, continuity of 
service at the LEC is a goal. The city’s financial obligations could be offset by renting the arenas, 
the addition of horses boarding at the facility and a revised fee structure after staff’s initial 6-month 
analysis. 
 
  





 

Page 1 of 14 
Professional Services Agreement_Hacienda Sosegado LLC_Lakewood Equestrian Center 

 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENT 
WITH D. JOY GOULD DBA HACIENDA SOSEGADO, LLC 

FOR LAKEWOOD EQUESTRIAN CENTER 
 
This professional service agreement (“Agreement”) is made and effective as of October 24, 2023, 
between City of Lakewood ("City"), a municipal corporation, and D. Joy Gould, DBA Hacienda 
Sosegado, LLC (“Contractor”), with reference to the following facts: 

A. City is the owner and licensee of the certain real property located at 11369 East Carson 
Street, Lakewood, California 90715 and commonly referred to as the Lakewood 
Equestrian Center. 

 
B. The Lakewood City Council has authorized and approved use of the property for 

equestrian recreation uses including horse boarding and equine activities. 
 

C. This Agreement is not a lease of Premises, and has no real property interest or possessory 
interest value. The purpose of this Agreement is to provide management services of the 
approved uses at the Lakewood Equestrian Center under the direction of City. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, City, for and in consideration of the performance of the covenants and 
agreements hereinafter contained, to be kept and performed by Contractor, and upon the 
following terms and conditions, hereby contracts with Contractor to manage facility operations, 
subject to the following terms and conditions: 

 
1. TERM. This Agreement shall commence on November 1, 2023, and shall remain and 

continue in effect until tasks described herein are completed, but in no event later than 
April 30, 2025 unless sooner terminated pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement. 
 

2. SERVICES. In response to City’s request for an equestrian center manager, Contractor 
shall perform the tasks described and set forth in City’s Equestrian Center Manager Scope 
of Work (“Scope of Work”), attached hereto as [Exhibit A]  and incorporated herein as 
though set forth in full.  

 
3. PERFORMANCE. Contractor shall furnish and use, at Contractor’s own expense, all 

labor, equipment and materials necessary for the satisfactory performance of the work set 
forth in this Agreement. Contractor shall at all times faithfully, competently, and to the best 
of Contractor’s ability, experience, and talent, perform all tasks described herein. 
Contractor shall employ, at a minimum, generally accepted standards and practices utilized 
by persons engaged in providing similar services as are required of Contractor hereunder 
in meeting Contractor’s obligations under this Agreement. 

 
4. CITY REPRESENTATIVE . City’s Recreation and Community Services Department 

Director shall represent City in all matters pertaining to the administration of this 
Agreement, review and approve all products submitted by Contractor, but not including 
the authority to enlarge Scope of Work or change the compensation due to Contractor. 
City’s Recreation and Community Services Department Director shall be authorized to act 



 

Page 2 of 14 
Professional Services Agreement_Hacienda Sosegado LLC_Lakewood Equestrian Center 

 

on City's behalf and to execute all necessary documents which enlarge Scope of Work or 
change Contractor's compensation, subject to Section 5 hereof. 

 
5. PAYMENT.  

A. City agrees to pay Contractor on a semi-monthly pay schedule providing two 
payments per month. Distribution of payments is based upon completion of Scope 
of Work, in accordance with Contractor’s Fee for Required Services, at a monthly 
rate as described below: 

 Less than 100 horses in boarding care = $14,825 per month  
 101 to 119 horses in boarding care = $17,108 per month 
 120 to 139 horses in boarding care = $19,391 per month 
 Above 140 horses in boarding care = $21,673 per month 

This amount shall not exceed $390,114 for the total term of the Agreement unless 
additional payment is approved as provided in this Agreement. 

B. Contractor shall not be compensated for any services rendered in connection with 
Contractor’s performance of this Agreement which are in addition to those set forth 
herein, unless such additional services are authorized in advance and in writing by 
City. Contractor shall be compensated for any additional services in the amounts 
and in the manner as agreed to by City and Contractor at the time City's written 
authorization is given to Contractor for the performance of said services.  

C. Contractor shall submit an invoice for actual services performed. Invoice shall be 
submitted as soon thereafter as practical, for services provided. Payment shall be 
made within seven (7) days of receipt of invoice as to all non-disputed fees. If City 
disputes any of Contractor's fees, it shall give written notice to Contractor within 
seven (7) days of receipt of an invoice of any disputed fees set forth on the invoice. 
Any final payment under this Agreement shall be made within forty-five (45) days 
of receipt of an invoice therefore. 

 
6. TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT. 

A. Except as otherwise provided herein below, either party may terminate this 
Agreement, or any portion hereof, by serving written notice of termination upon 
the other party at least ten (10) days prior to the date of termination. Upon receipt 
of said notice, Contractor shall immediately cease all work under this Agreement, 
unless the notice provides otherwise. If City terminates a portion of this Agreement, 
such termination shall not make void or invalidate the remainder of this Agreement. 

B. In the event this Agreement is terminated pursuant to this section, City shall pay to 
Contractor the actual value of the work performed up to the time of termination, 
less any disputed amounts. Upon termination of the Agreement pursuant to this 
section, Contractor will submit an invoice to City as provided herein above. 

 
7. DEFAULT. 

A. Either party's failure to comply with the provisions of this Agreement shall 
constitute a default. In the event that either party is in default for cause under the 
terms of this Agreement, the affected party shall promptly notify the deficient party 
of such default and following such notice shall have no obligation or duty to 
continue compensating or providing any work after the date of default and can 



 

Page 3 of 14 
Professional Services Agreement_Hacienda Sosegado LLC_Lakewood Equestrian Center 

 

terminate this Agreement immediately by written notice to the other party. If such 
failure hereunder arises out of causes beyond either party’s control, and without 
fault or negligence, it shall not be considered a default.  

B. If City determines Contractor is in default in the performance of any of the terms 
or conditions of this Agreement, City shall cause to be served upon Contractor a 
written notice of the default. Contractor shall have ten (10) days after service of 
default notice to cure the default as directed by City in the notice of default. In the 
event Contractor fails to cure Contractor’s default within such period of time, City 
shall have the right, notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, to 
terminate this Agreement without further notice and without prejudice to any other 
remedy to which it may be entitled at law, in equity or under this Agreement. 

 
8. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS. 

A. Contractor shall maintain complete and accurate records with respect to sales, costs, 
expenses, receipts, and other such information required by City that relate to the 
performance of services under this Agreement. Contractor shall maintain adequate 
records of services provided in sufficient detail to permit an evaluation of services. 
All such records shall be maintained in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles and shall be clearly identified and readily accessible. 
Contractor shall provide free access to City at reasonable times to such books and 
records; shall give City the right to examine and audit said books and records; shall 
permit City to make transcripts or copies therefrom as necessary; and shall allow 
inspection of all work, data, documents, proceedings, and activities related to this 
Agreement. Such records, together with supporting documents, shall be maintained 
for a period of three (3) years after receipt of final payment. 

B. In the event of termination of this Agreement, copies of all original documents, 
designs, drawings, maps, models, computer files, surveys, notes, and other 
documents prepared in the course of providing the services to be performed 
pursuant to this Agreement shall become the sole property of City and may be used, 
reused, or otherwise disposed of by City without the permission of Contractor. With 
respect to computer files, Contractor shall make available to City, at Contractor's 
office and upon reasonable written request by City, the necessary computer 
software and hardware for purposes of accessing, compiling, transferring, copying 
and/or printing computer files. Contractor hereby grants to City all right, title, and 
interest, including any copyright, in and to the documents, designs, drawings, maps, 
models, computer files, surveys, notes, and other documents prepared by 
Contractor in the course of providing the services under this Agreement. 

 
9. INDEMNIFICATION AND DEFENSE. 

A. Indemnification. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor shall 
indemnify and hold harmless City and any and all of its officials, employees, 
agents, and/or volunteers (“Indemnified Parties”) from and against any and all 
losses, liabilities, damages, costs, and expenses, including attorney’s fees and costs, 
caused in whole or in part by the negligent or wrongful act, error or omission of 
Contractor, Contractor’s officers, agents, employees or subcontractors (or any City 
or individual that Contractor shall bear the legal liability thereof) in the 



 

Page 4 of 14 
Professional Services Agreement_Hacienda Sosegado LLC_Lakewood Equestrian Center 

 

performance of services under this Agreement. Contractor’s duty to indemnify and 
hold harmless City shall not extend to City’s sole or active negligence or willful 
misconduct. 

B. Duty to defend. In the event the Indemnified Parties, individually or collectively, 
are made a party to any action, lawsuit, or other adversarial proceeding arising from 
the performance of the services encompassed by this Agreement, and upon demand 
by City, Contractor shall defend the Indemnified Parties at Contractor’s cost or at 
City’s option, to reimburse City for its costs of defense, including reasonable 
attorney’s fees and costs incurred in the defense of such matters to the extent the 
matters arise from, relate to or are caused by Contractor’s negligent acts, errors or 
omissions. Payment by City is not a condition precedent to enforcement of this 
provision. In the event of any dispute between Contractor and City, as to whether 
liability arises from the sole or active negligence or willful misconduct of City or 
its officers, employees, or agents, Contractor will be obligated to pay for City’s 
defense until such time as a final judgment has been entered adjudicating the 
Indemnified Parties as solely or actively negligent or to have acted with willful 
misconduct. Contractor will not be entitled in the absence of such a determination 
to any reimbursement of defense costs including but not limited to attorney’s fees, 
expert fees, and costs of litigation. 

 
10. INSURANCE. Contractor shall maintain prior to the beginning of and for the duration of 

this Agreement insurance coverage as specified in [Exhibit B] attached herewith and 
incorporated herein by this reference as though set forth in full. 

 
11. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR. 

A. Contractor is and shall at all times remain as to City, a wholly independent 
contractor. The personnel performing the services under this Agreement on behalf 
of Contractor shall at all times be under Contractor's exclusive direction and 
control. Neither City nor any of its officers, employees, or agents shall have control 
over the conduct of Contractor or any of Contractor's officers, employees, or agents, 
except as set forth in this Agreement. Contractor shall not at any time or in any 
manner represent that it or any of Contractor’s officers, employees, or agents are in 
any manner officers, employees, or agents of City. Contractor shall not incur or 
have the power to incur any debt, obligation, or liability whatever against City, or 
bind City in any manner. 

B. No employee benefits shall be available to Contractor in connection with the 
performance of this Agreement. Except for the fees paid to Contractor as provided 
in the Agreement, City shall not pay salaries, wages, or other compensation to 
Contractor and/or Contractor’s employees for performing services hereunder for 
City. City shall not be liable for compensation or indemnification to Contractor for 
injury or sickness to Contractor’s employee(s) arising out of performing services 
hereunder. 

 
12. LEGAL RESPONSIBILITIES. Contractor shall keep informed of local, state, and 

federal laws and regulations which in any manner affect those employed by it or in any 
way affect the performance of Contractor’s service pursuant to this Agreement. Contractor 



 

Page 5 of 14 
Professional Services Agreement_Hacienda Sosegado LLC_Lakewood Equestrian Center 

 

shall at all times observe and comply with all such laws and regulations. City, and its 
officers and employees, shall not be liable at law or in equity occasioned by failure of 
Contractor to comply with this section. 

 
13. UNDUE INFLUENCE. Contractor declares and warrants that no undue influence or 

pressure was used against or in concert with any officer or employee of City in connection 
with the award, terms, or implementation of this Agreement, including any method of 
coercion, confidential financial arrangement, or financial inducement. No officer or 
employee of City has or will receive compensation, directly or indirectly, from Contractor, 
or from any officer, employee, or agent of Contractor, in connection with the award of this 
Agreement or any work to be conducted as a result of this Agreement. Violation of this 
section shall be a material breach of this Agreement entitling City to any and all remedies 
at law or in equity. 

 
14. NO BENEFIT TO ARISE TO CITY EMPLOYEES. During Contractor’s tenure and 

for one year thereafter, no member, officer, or employee of City, or Contractor’s designees 
or agents, and no public official who exercises authority over or responsibilities with 
respect to the services under this Agreement shall have any interest, direct or indirect, in 
any agreement or sub-agreement, or the proceeds thereof, for work to be performed in 
connection with the services performed under this Agreement. 

 
15. RELEASE OF INFORMATION/CONFLICTS OF INTEREST. 

A. All information gained by Contractor in performance of this Agreement shall be 
considered confidential and shall not be released by Contractor without City's prior 
written authorization. Contractor, Contractor’s officers, employees, agents, or 
subcontractors, shall not without written authorization from City or unless 
requested by City, voluntarily provide declarations, letters of support, testimony at 
depositions, response to interrogatories, or other information concerning the work 
performed under this Agreement or relating to any project or property located 
within City. Response to a subpoena or court order shall not be considered 
"voluntary" provided Contractor gives City notice of such court order or subpoena.  

B. Contractor shall promptly notify City should Contractor, Contractor’s officers, 
employees, agents, or subcontractors be served with any summons, complaint, 
subpoena, notice of deposition, request for documents, interrogatories, request for 
admissions, or other discovery request (“Discovery”), court order, or subpoena 
from any person or party regarding this Agreement and the work performed 
thereunder or with respect to any project or property located within City, unless 
City is a party to any lawsuit, arbitration, or administrative proceeding connected 
to such Discovery, or unless Contractor is prohibited by law from informing City 
of such Discovery. City retains the right, but has no obligation, to represent 
Contractor and/or be present at any deposition, hearing, or similar proceeding as 
allowed by law. Unless City is a party to the lawsuit, arbitration, or administrative 
proceeding and is adverse to Contractor in such proceeding, Contractor agrees to 
cooperate fully with City and to provide the opportunity to review any response to 
Discovery requests provided by Contractor. However, City's right to review any 



 

Page 6 of 14 
Professional Services Agreement_Hacienda Sosegado LLC_Lakewood Equestrian Center 

 

such response does not imply or mean the right by City to control, direct, or rewrite 
said response. 

 
16. ASSIGNMENT. 

A. Contractor shall not assign the performance of this Agreement, nor any part thereof, 
nor any monies due hereunder, without prior written consent of City. Due to the 
personal nature of the services to be rendered pursuant to this Agreement, only 
Contractor shall perform the services described in this Agreement.  

B. Before retaining or contracting with any subcontractor for any services under this 
Agreement, Contractor shall provide City with the identity of the proposed 
subcontractor, a copy of the proposed written contract between Contractor and such 
subcontractor which shall include an indemnity provision identical to the one 
provided herein identifying City as an indemnified party, or an incorporation of the 
indemnity provision provided herein, and proof that such proposed subcontractor 
carries insurance at least equal to that required by this Agreement or obtain a written 
waiver from City for such insurance.  

 
17. LICENSES. At all times during the term of this Agreement, Contractor shall have in full 

force and effect, all licenses required of it by law for the performance of the services 
described in this Agreement. 
 
Contractor agrees to provide City with current copies of said licenses and permits and with 
copies as they are renewed. 
 

18. GOVERNING LAW. City and Contractor understand and agree that the laws of the State 
of California shall govern the rights, obligations, duties, and liabilities of the parties to this 
Agreement and also govern the interpretation of this Agreement. Any litigation concerning 
this Agreement shall take place in the municipal, superior, or federal district court with 
jurisdiction over City. 

 
19. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement contains the entire understanding between the 

parties relating to the obligations of the parties described in this Agreement. All prior or 
contemporaneous agreements, understandings, representations, and statements, oral or 
written and pertaining to the subject of this Agreement or with respect to the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement, are merged into this Agreement and shall be of no further 
force or effect. Each party is entering into this Agreement based solely upon the 
representations set forth herein and upon each party's own independent investigation of any 
and all facts such party deems material. 

 
20. SEVERABILITY. Any part, provision, or representation of this Agreement or any of its 

exhibits, including, but not limited to [Exhibit B], which is held to be invalid, void or 
unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, shall be limited to that part, provision 
or representation and all other parts, provisions, or representations herein shall remain in 
full force and effect. 

 



 

Page 7 of 14 
Professional Services Agreement_Hacienda Sosegado LLC_Lakewood Equestrian Center 

 

21. AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE THIS AGREEMENT. The person or persons executing 
this Agreement on behalf of Contractor warrants and represents that they have the authority 
to execute this Agreement on behalf of Contractor and have the authority to bind Contractor 
to the performance of Contractor’s obligations hereunder. 



 

Page 8 of 14 
Professional Services Agreement_Hacienda Sosegado LLC_Lakewood Equestrian Center 

 

NOTICES. Any notice required to be given hereunder shall be deemed to have been given by 
depositing said notice in the United States mail in an envelope bearing the proper amount of 
postage thereon, and addressed as follows: 
 

To CITY:   City of Lakewood 
      Attention Director of Recreation and Community Services 
      5050 Clark Avenue, Lakewood, CA 90712 

 
To CONTRATOR:  D. Joy Gould DBA Hacienda Sosegado, LLC  

       23746 California Avenue 
       Hemet, CA 92545 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed 
this day and year first above written. 

 
         CITY OF LAKEWOOD 
 
 
         _______________________________ 
         MAYOR 
 
 
         ATTEST: 
 
 
         _______________________________ 
         City Clerk 
 
 APPROVED AS TO FORM:  
 
 
 _______________________________ 
 City Attorney 
 
        D. Joy Gould DBA, Hacienda Sosegado, LLC 
 
 
         By______________________________ 
 
         ________________________________ 
         Title 

 
Attachments:    

Exhibit A – Equestrian Center Manager Scope of Work 
Exhibit B - Insurance Requirements 



 

Page 9 of 14 
Professional Services Agreement_Hacienda Sosegado LLC_Lakewood Equestrian Center 

 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENT 
WITH D. JOY GOULD DBA HACIENDA SOSEGADO, LLC 

EQUESTRIAN CENTER MANAGER 
 

EXHIBIT A 
EQUESTRIAN CENTER MANAGER SCOPE OF WORK 

 
POSITION: Equestrian Center Manager - Contractor 
DEPARTMENT: Recreation and Community Services 
REPORTS TO: Director of Recreation and Community Services 
SUMMARY: The Lakewood Equestrian Center is a 19-acre facility where equestrian enthusiasts 
participate in a variety of activities, including riding lessons, horse training and a petting zoo. The 
Lakewood Equestrian Center is open 7 days a week from dawn to dusk and serves the local equine 
community along with neighborhood youth groups. The facility offers a variety of unique services 
for both rider and horse.  The equestrian center’s primary functions are boarding and training 
horses and providing riding lessons. 
 
DUTIES and RESPONSIBILITIES: 
 Meet with the Director of Recreation and Community Services weekly to discuss facility 

operations 
 Assist with the development of horse boarding, trailer parking, equine training and vendor 

contracts and rates  
 Assist with the development of procedures for billing and accounts receivables for horse 

boarding, trailer parking, equine training and vendor contracts 
 Assist city staff with measuring and relabeling each boarding unit 
 Assist with the development of rules for all areas within the facility to ensure the safety of 

users and visitors 
 Assist with the development for procedures for businesses coming onto the facility to 

provide specialized services, including but not limited to veterinarian and farrier services 
 Assist with a schedule for use of riding rings, arenas and turnouts by horse boarders and 

equine trainers 
 Assist with the development of new facility signage, including new signage for all horse 

boarding units 
 Assist with the implementation of purchasing agreements with suppliers for quality hay 

and feed, bedding and necessary equine supplies deemed necessary for facility operations 
 Assist with the development of facility rules for boarders, vendors, businesses and the 

public 
 Assist with the development of a security plan for the facility 
 Assist with the managerial oversight of boarding, trailer parking, equine training and 

vendor contracts 
 Assist with verification of billing for all services provided at the facility and accounts 

receivable  
 Assist with the management of the City’s approved budget for supplies, equipment and 

facility repair 
 Provide the personnel and equipment necessary to ensure the day-to-day cleaning and 

maintenance of all horse boarding units, including waterers and feeding buckets 



 

Page 10 of 14 
Professional Services Agreement_Hacienda Sosegado LLC_Lakewood Equestrian Center 

 

 Recruit, hire, train, schedule, supervise and evaluate contracted staff performing day-to-
day cleaning and maintenance of all boarding units 

 Follow federal, state, and local laws when it comes to managing employees and 
maintaining a safe work environment.  

 Ensure for the health and welfare of all animals through an effective health process for 
boarders and those coming into the facility for day use 

 Develop standards for vaccination of animals boarded at the facility as well as quarantine 
protocols for any sick animals 

 Provide written and verbal reports to Director of Recreation and Community Services 
issues and concerns related to the health and safety of the horses in boarding at the facility 

 Ensure efficient disposal of all waste in compliance with governmental regulations 
 Serve as the initial point of contact for users associated with horse boarding, trailer parking, 

equine training and/or vendors at the facility 
 Provide customer service to the general public, responding to inquiries and answering 

questions related to facility operations 
 Respond to problems or emergency situations as they arise 
 Work collaboratively with the city’s office and maintenance staff 
 Identify pest issues at the facility and report to maintenance staff 
 Identify and report to the Director of Recreation and Community Services any safety 

concerns, equipment which needs repair or replacement as well as facility infrastructure in 
need of repair 

 Maintain horse boarding records of all horses on site for which Contractor provides 
services 

 Maintain a record of feeding, supplements, nutritional needs and/or medications necessary 
for all boarded horses on site for which Contractor provides services 

 Obtain trailer parking records for all trailers parked on site from city staff 
 Maintain a valid California driver's license for self and ensure the same of all contractor’s 

employees who drive in the performance of their work on the facility 
 Provide a monthly spreadsheet detailing the expenses due from facility users for horse 

boarding, trailer parking, and revenue share from approved businesses at the facility 
 Provide a weekly list of supplies, to be ordered by City 
 Schedule, advertise, prepare agenda and led quarterly meetings for horse boarders, trailer 

parking renters, equine trainers and vendors 
 Confirm programs and activities occurring on the facility are approved, permitted and/or 

contracted by the City 
 Provide recommendations for programs, activities and events to the Director of Recreation 

and Community Services for city approval 
  



 

Page 11 of 14 
Professional Services Agreement_Hacienda Sosegado LLC_Lakewood Equestrian Center 

 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENT 
WITH D. JOY GOULD DBA HACIENDA SOSEGADO, LLC 

EQUESTRIAN CENTER MANAGER 
 

EXHIBIT B 
INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 
Without limiting Contractor’s indemnification of City, and prior to commencement of work and/or 
services under this Agreement, Contractor shall obtain, provide, and maintain at Contractor’s own 
expense during the term of this Agreement, policies of insurance of the type and amounts described 
below and in a form satisfactory to City.  
 
Commercial General Liability Insurance using Insurance Services Office “Commercial General 
Liability” policy form CG 00 01 or the exact equivalent. Defense costs must be paid in addition to 
limits. There shall be no cross liability exclusion for claims or suits by one insured against another 
(e.g. the “Insured v. Insured” exclusion). Limits shall be no less than $1,000,000 per occurrence 
for all covered losses and no less than $2,000,000 general aggregate. 
 
Commercial Equine General Liability Insurance, to the extent the Commercial General 
Liability policy obtained pursuant to Section 17.A. above, does not include the management of 
equine operations. Contractor shall procure and maintain, at Contractor’s sole costs and expense, 
comprehensive Commercial Equine General Liability Insurance in the single limit minimum 
amount of $1,000,000 per occurrence and an aggregate in the amount of $2,000,000. 
 
Workers’ compensation insurance. Contractor shall maintain Workers’ Compensation 
Insurance (statutory limits) and Employer’s Liability insurance (with limits of at least $1,000,000). 
Contractor shall submit to City, along with the certificate of insurance, a Waiver of Subrogation 
endorsement in favor of City, its officers, agents, employees, and volunteers. 
 
Automobile liability insurance. Contractor shall maintain automobile insurance at least as broad 
as Insurance Services Office form CA 00 01 covering bodily injury and property damage for all 
activities of Contractor arising out of or in connection with Work to be performed under this 
Agreement, including coverage for any owned, hired, non-owned, or rented vehicles, in an amount 
not less than 1,000,000 combined single limit for each accident.  
 
If Contractor owns no vehicles that will be utilized in the performance of Contractor’s obligations 
pursuant to this Agreement, the insurance requirement may be satisfied by a non-owned auto 
endorsement to the commercial general liability policy described above. 
 
Professional liability (errors & omissions) insurance. Contractor shall maintain professional 
liability insurance that covers the services to be performed in connection with this Agreement, in 
the minimum amount of $1,000,000 per claim and in the aggregate. Any policy inception date, 
continuity date, or retroactive date must be before the effective date of this Agreement and 
Contractor agrees to maintain continuous coverage through a period no less than three years after 
completion of the services required by this Agreement. 
 



 

Page 12 of 14 
Professional Services Agreement_Hacienda Sosegado LLC_Lakewood Equestrian Center 

 

Other provisions and/or requirements 
1. Proof of insurance. Contractor shall provide certificates of insurance and required 

endorsements to City as evidence of the insurance coverage required herein. Insurance 
certificates and endorsements must be approved by City’s Risk Manager prior to 
commencement of performance. Current certification of insurance shall be kept on file with 
City for the contract period and any additional length of time required thereafter. City 
reserves the right to require complete, certified copies of all required insurance policies, at 
any time.  
 

2. Duration of coverage. Contractor shall procure and maintain for the contract period, and 
any additional length of time required thereafter, insurance against claims for injuries to 
persons or damages to property, or financial loss which may arise from or in connection 
with the performance of the Work hereunder by Contractor, Contractor’s agents, 
representatives, employees, or subcontractors.  

 
3. Primary/noncontributing. Coverage provided by Contractor shall be primary and any 

insurance or self-insurance procured or maintained by City shall not be required to 
contribute with it. The limits of insurance required herein may be satisfied by a 
combination of primary and umbrella or excess insurance. Any umbrella or excess 
insurance shall contain or be endorsed to contain a provision that such coverage shall also 
apply on a primary and non-contributory basis for the benefit of City before City’s own 
insurance or self- insurance shall be called upon to protect it as a named insured. 

 
4. City’s rights of enforcement. In the event any policy of insurance required under this 

Agreement does not comply with these specifications or is canceled and not replaced, City 
has the right but not the duty to obtain the insurance it deems necessary, and any premium 
paid by City will be promptly reimbursed by Contractor or City will withhold amounts 
sufficient to pay premium from Contractor payments. In the alternative, City may cancel 
this Agreement. 

 
5. Acceptable insurers. All insurance policies shall be issued by an insurance company 

currently authorized by the Insurance Commissioner to transact business of insurance or is 
on the List of Approved Surplus Line Insurers in the State of California, with an assigned 
policyholders’ Rating of A- (or higher) and Financial Size Category Class VII (or larger) 
in accordance with the latest edition of Best’s Key Rating Guide, unless otherwise 
approved by City. 

 
6. Waiver of subrogation. All insurance coverage maintained or procured pursuant to this 

Agreement shall be endorsed to waive subrogation against City, its elected or appointed 
officers, agents, officials, employees, and volunteers or shall specifically allow Contractor 
or others providing insurance evidence in compliance with these specifications to waive 
their right of recovery prior to a loss. Contractor hereby waives Contractor’s own right of 
recovery against City and shall require similar written express waivers and insurance 
clauses from each of Contractor’s subcontractors. 

 



 

Page 13 of 14 
Professional Services Agreement_Hacienda Sosegado LLC_Lakewood Equestrian Center 

 

7. Enforcement of contract provisions (non estoppel). Contractor acknowledges and agrees 
that any actual or alleged failure on the part of City to inform Contractor of non-compliance 
with any requirement imposes no additional obligations on City nor does it waive any rights 
hereunder. 

 
8. Requirements not limiting. Requirements of specific coverage features or limits 

contained in this Section are not intended as a limitation on coverage, limits or other 
requirements, or a waiver of any coverage normally provided by any insurance. Specific 
reference to a given coverage feature is for purposes of clarification only as it pertains to a 
given issue and is not intended by any party or insured to be all inclusive, or to the exclusion 
of other coverage, or a waiver of any type. If Contractor maintains higher limits than the 
minimums shown above, City requires and shall be entitled to coverage for the higher limits 
maintained by Contractor. Any available insurance proceeds in excess of the specified 
minimum limits of insurance and coverage shall be available to City. 

 
9. Notice of cancellation. Contractor agrees to oblige Contractor’s insurance agent or broker 

and insurers to provide City with a thirty (30) day notice of cancellation (except for 
nonpayment for which a ten (10) day notice is required) or nonrenewal of coverage for 
each required coverage. If any of Contractor’s insurers are unwilling to provide such notice, 
then Contractor shall have the responsibility of notifying City immediately in the event of 
Contractor’s failure to renew any of the required insurance coverages, or insurer’s 
cancellation or non-renewal. 

 
10. Additional insured status. General liability, automobile liability, and umbrella/excess 

liability insurance policies shall provide or be endorsed to provide that City and its officers, 
officials, employees, agents, and volunteers shall be additional insureds under such 
policies. 

 
11. Prohibition of undisclosed coverage limitations. None of the coverages required herein 

will be in compliance with these requirements if they include any limiting endorsement of 
any kind that has not been first submitted to City and approved of in writing. 

 
12. Separation of insureds. A severability of interests provision must apply for all additional 

insureds ensuring that Contractor’s insurance shall apply separately to each insured against 
whom claim is made or suit is brought, except with respect to the insurer’s limits of 
liability. The policy(ies) shall not contain any cross-liability exclusions. 

 
13. Pass through clause. Contractor agrees to ensure that Contractor’s subcontractors and any 

other party who is brought onto or involved in the project/service by Contractor, provide 
the same minimum insurance coverage and endorsements required of Contractor under this 
Agreement. Contractor agrees to monitor and review all such coverage and assumes all 
responsibility for ensuring that such coverage is provided in conformity with the 
requirements of this section. However, in the event Contractor’s subcontractor cannot 
comply with this requirement, which proof must be submitted to City, Contractor may still 
be able to utilize the subcontractor provided Contractor shall be required to ensure that 
Contractor’s subcontractor provide and maintain insurance coverage and endorsements 



 

Page 14 of 14 
Professional Services Agreement_Hacienda Sosegado LLC_Lakewood Equestrian Center 

 

sufficient to the specific risk of exposure involved with subcontractor’s scope of work and 
services, with limits less than that required of Contractor, but in all other terms consistent 
with Contractor’s requirements under this Agreement. This provision does not relieve 
Contractor of Contractor’s contractual obligations under the Agreement and/or limit 
Contractor’s liability to the amount of insurance coverage provided by Contractor’s 
subcontractors. This provision is intended solely to provide Contractor with the ability to 
utilize a subcontractor who may be otherwise qualified to perform the work or services but 
may not carry the same insurance limits as required of Contractor under this Agreement 
given the limited scope of work or services provided by the subcontractor. Contractor 
agrees that upon request, all agreements with subcontractors, and others engaged in the 
project and/or services, will be submitted to City for review. 
 

14. City’s right to revise specifications. City reserves the right at any time during the term of 
the contract to change the amounts and types of insurance required by giving Contractor 
sixty (60) days advance written notice of such change. If such change results in substantial 
additional cost to Contractor, City and Contractor may renegotiate Contractor’s 
compensation. 

 
15. Self-insured retentions. Any self-insured retentions must be declared to and approved by 

City. City reserves the right to require that self-insured retentions be eliminated, lowered, 
or replaced by a deductible, or require proof of ability to pay losses and related 
investigations, claim administration, and defense expenses within the retention through 
confirmation from the underwriter. 

 
16. Timely notice of claims. Contractor shall give City prompt and timely notice of claims 

made or suits instituted that arise out of or result from Contractor’s performance under this 
Agreement, and that involve or may involve coverage under any of the required liability 
policies. 

 
17. Additional insurance. Contractor shall also procure and maintain, at Contractor’s own 

cost and expense, any additional kinds of insurance, which in Contractor’s own judgment 
may be necessary for Contractor’s proper protection and prosecution of the work. 

 
 

 





 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 















 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

               RI-2 













































Investment Performance Review

For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2023

Client Management Team PFM Asset Management LLC

Sarah Meacham, Managing Director

Robert Cheddar, CFA, Managing Director

Richard Babbe, CCM, Senior Managing Consultant

213 Market Street

Harrisburg, PA 17101-2141

717-232-2723

633 W 5th St., 25th Floor

Los Angeles, CA 90071

213-415-1699

NOT FDIC INSURED : NO BANK GUARANTEE : MAY LOSE VALUE

For Institutional Investor or Investment Professional Use Only - This material is not for inspection by, distribution to, or quotation to the general public

City of Lakewood



© PFM Asset Management LLC     pfmam.com

CITY OF LAKEWOOD

For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2023

Portfolio Snapshot

|

Yield and duration calculations exclude cash and cash equivalents. Sector allocation includes market values and accrued interest.

The portfolio’s benchmark is currently the ICE BofA 1-5 Year U.S Treasury Index. Prior to 3/31/19 it was the ICE BofA 1-3 Year U.S Treasury Index. Source: Bloomberg.

An average of each security’s credit rating was assigned a numeric value and adjusted for its relative weighting in the portfolio.

1.

Credit Quality - S&P

12%

20%

36%

18%
14%

4%

35%

27%

21%

13%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

0-1 Yr 1-2 Yrs 2-3 Yrs 3-4 Yrs 4-5 Yrs

Portfolio Benchmark

Duration Distribution

U.S. Treasury | 38%

Corporate | 27%

ABS | 14%

Agency CMBS | 10%

Federal Agency | 4%

Municipal | 3%

Negotiable CD | 3%

Supranational | 1%

Sector Allocation

AAA | 14%

AA+ | 54%

AA | 3%

AA- | 1%

A+ | 7%

A | 9%

A- | 6%

BBB+ | 3%

Not Rated | 3%

Portfolio Statistics

Portfolio Effective Duration 2.49 years

Benchmark Effective Duration 2.50 years

Portfolio Credit Quality AA

Yield At Market 5.07%

Yield At Cost 2.87%

Total Market Value $38,042,861.30

$37,756,055.59Securities Sub-Total

$88,061.45Cash

$198,744.26Accrued Interest

Portfolio Snapshot¹

10



© PFM Asset Management LLC     pfmam.com

CITY OF LAKEWOOD

For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2023

Account Summary

|

13.6%

26.6%

3.2%

3.2%

1.0%

10.4%

4.1%

37.8%

0.0% 20.0% 40.0% 60.0% 80.0% 100.0%

ABS - $5,180,268

Corporate - $10,097,042

Negotiable CD - $1,227,260

Municipal - $1,229,644

Supranational - $366,470

Agency CMBS - $3,947,516

Federal Agency - $1,567,490

U.S. Treasury - $14,339,110

Portfolio Allocation Sector Limit for Analysis*

Sector Allocation Analytics

For informational/analytical purposes only and is not provided for compliance assurance. Includes accrued interest.

*Sector Limit for Analysis is as derived from our interpretation of your most recent Investment Policy as provided.

11



© PFM Asset Management LLC     pfmam.com

CITY OF LAKEWOOD

For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2023 
Compliance

|

Note: Pre- and post-trade compliance for the account(s) managed by PFM Asset Management is provided via Bloomberg Asset and Investment Management ("AIM").

Certificate of Compliance

During the reporting period for the quarter ended September 30, 2023, the account(s) managed by PFM Asset Management

("PFMAM") were in compliance with the applicable investment policy and guidelines as furnished to PFMAM.

Acknowledged : PFM Asset Management LLC

12



© PFM Asset Management LLC     pfmam.com

CITY OF LAKEWOOD

For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2023

Portfolio Activity

|

Portfolio Activity 

Net Activity by Sector

($ millions)

U.S. Treasury

Federal Agency

Supranational

Municipal

Corporate

Negotiable CD

ABS

Agency CMBS

U.S. Treasury

Federal Agency

Supranational

Municipal

Corporate

Negotiable CD

ABS

Agency CMBS

($4.0) ($2.0) $0.0 $2.0 $4.0

Based on total proceeds (principal and accrued interest) of buys, sells, maturities, and principal paydowns. Detail may not add to total due to rounding.

Sector Net Activity

Agency CMBS $2,374,100

ABS $1,910,553

Negotiable CD $850,000

Corporate ($97,307)

Municipal ($218,486)

Supranational ($549,951)

Federal Agency ($1,165,605)

U.S. Treasury ($2,755,780)

$347,524Total Net Activity

Sales/Maturities  Purchases

13



© PFM Asset Management LLC     pfmam.com

CITY OF LAKEWOOD

For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2023

Portfolio Characteristics

|

Historical Sector Allocation

Only includes fixed-income securities held within the separately managed account(s) and LGIPs managed by PFMAM.

46%

7%

4%
2%
4%
1%

27%

9%

J
u

n
-2

3

38%

4%

10%

1%
3%
3%

27%

14%

S
e

p
-2

3

14



© PFM Asset Management LLC     pfmam.com

CITY OF LAKEWOOD

For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2023

Portfolio Performance

|

The lesser of 10 years or since inception is shown. Since inception returns for periods one year or less are not shown. Performance inception date is December 31, 2007.1.

Interest earned calculated as the ending accrued interest less beginning accrued interest, plus net interest activity.2.

Returns for periods one year or less are presented on a periodic basis. Returns for periods greater than one year are presented on an annualized basis.3.

The portfolio’s benchmark is currently the ICE BofA 1-5 Year U.S Treasury Index. Prior to 3/31/19 it was the ICE BofA 1-3 Year U.S Treasury Index. Source: Bloomberg.4.

-2.0%

-1.0%

0.0%

1.0%

2.0%

3.0%

R
e
tu

rn

Portfolio Benchmark

Portfolio Performance

Market Value Basis Earnings 3 Months 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years 10 Years¹

Interest Earned² $239,103 $774,289 $1,904,298 $3,500,633 $5,811,232

Change in Market Value ($145,253) $149,591 ($3,514,342) ($1,528,697) ($2,251,251)

$93,850Total Dollar Return $923,880 ($1,610,044) $1,971,936 $3,559,981

Total Return³

Portfolio 0.25% 2.49% -1.37% 1.07% 0.98%

Benchmark⁴ 0.23% 2.12% -1.76% 0.80% 0.68%

3 Months 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years 10 Years

Difference 0.02% 0.36% 0.38% 0.27% 0.29%

15



© PFM Asset Management LLC     pfmam.com

CITY OF LAKEWOOD

For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2023

Portfolio Performance

|

Performance on trade-date basis, gross (i.e., before fees), in accordance with the CFA Institute’s Global Investment Performance Standards (GIPS).1.

Income returns calculated as interest earned on investments during the period.2.

Price returns calculated as the change in market value of each security for the period.3.

Returns are presented on a periodic basis.4.

Quarterly Sector Performance

Total Return by Sector Contribution to Total Return

Cash

ABS

Corporate

Negotiable CD

Municipal

Supranational

Agency CMBS

Federal Agency

U.S. Treasury

-0.10%

0.00%

0.10%

0.20%

0.30%

0.40%

U.S. Treasury | -0.01%

Federal Agency | 0.05%

Agency CMBS | -0.05%

Supranational | 0.02%

Municipal | 0.03%

Negotiable CD | -0.01%

Corporate | 0.12%

ABS | 0.08%

Cash | 0.01%

Price Returns  Income Returns

Return

3.29%

0.87%

0.72%

1.31%

0.40%

0.13%

0.85%

0.15%

0.52%

0.00%

0.01%

-0.29%

-1.97%

0.39%

1.00%

-1.63%

0.50%

-0.54%

-4.0% -2.2% -0.4% 1.4% 3.2% 5.0%

Return

16



© PFM Asset Management LLC     pfmam.com

CITY OF LAKEWOOD

For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2023

Portfolio Performance

|

The lesser of 10 years or since inception is shown. Performance inception date is December 31, 2007.1.

Interest earned calculated as the ending accrued interest less beginning accrued interest, plus net interest activity.2.

Realized gains / (losses) are shown on an amortized cost basis.3.

Accrual Basis Earnings

Accrual Basis Earnings

Interest Earned²

Realized Gains / (Losses)³

Change in Amortized Cost

Total Earnings

3 Months

$239,103

($308,380)

$7,089

($62,188)

1 Year

$774,289

($497,612)

$10,311

$286,987

3 Years

$1,904,298

($284,094)

($43,069)

$1,577,135

5 Year

$3,500,633

($133,848)

$47,353

$3,414,137

10 Year¹

$5,811,232

($99,485)

($234,453)

$5,477,293

17



Fixed-Income Sector Outlook – 4Q 2023

Negative
Slightly 

Negative
Neutral 

Slightly

Positive
PositiveCurrent outlook Outlook one quarter ago

Sector Our Investment Preferences

C O M M E R C I A L  PA P E R

/  C D

T R E A S U R I E S

T-Bill

T-Note

F E D E R A L  A G E N C I E S

Bullets

Callables

S U P R A N AT I O N A L S

C O R P O R AT E S

Financials

Industrials

S E C U R I T I Z E D

Asset-Backed

Agency Mortgage-Backed

Agency CMBS

M U N I C I PA L S

© PFM Asset Management LLC | pfmam.com

For the Quarter Ended March 31, 2022

California Affiliated Risk Management Authorities Market Update
CLIENT NAME

For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2023

Market UpdateCITY OF LAKEWOOD

For the Quarter Ended September 30, 2023

Market Update

© PFM Asset Management LLC     pfmam.com|
18







 

 

1 

CITY OF LAKEWOOD 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

WITH 
KILEY & ASSOCIATES 

 
 
This Professional Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is made and effective as of July 1, 
2023 (the “Effective Date”), by and between the City of Lakewood, a California municipal 
corporation, (the “City”) and Kiley & Associates, a District of Columbia corporation 
(“Consultant”).  In consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions set forth herein, 
the parties agree as follows: 
 
1. TERM 

This Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date, and shall remain and continue in 
effect until the Services are completed, unless sooner terminated pursuant to the 
provisions of this Agreement.   

 
2. SERVICES 

Consultant shall perform the services described and set forth in Consultant’s Proposal 
attached hereto as Exhibit A (“Services”), incorporated herein as though set forth in full.  

 
3. PERFORMANCE 

Consultant shall at all times faithfully, competently and to the best of Consultant’s ability, 
experience, and talent, perform all tasks described herein. Consultant shall employ, at a 
minimum, generally accepted standards and practices utilized by persons engaged in 
providing similar services as are required of Consultant under this Agreement. 

 
4. CITY MANAGEMENT  

The City Manager or designee shall represent the City in all matters pertaining to the 
administration of this Agreement. 

 
5. PAYMENT 

A. The City agrees to pay Consultant for Services satisfactorily performed in 
accordance with the fees set forth in Exhibit A, in an amount not to exceed 
$45,000. 

B. Consultant shall not be compensated for any services rendered in connection with 
its performance of this Agreement which are in addition to those set forth herein, 
unless such additional services are authorized in advance and in writing by the 
City Manager or designee. Consultant shall be compensated for any additional 
services in the amounts and in the manner as agreed to in writing by the City and 



   2 

Consultant at the time the City’s written authorization is given to Consultant for 
the performance of said services.   

C. Consultant will submit invoices monthly for actual Services performed. Payment 
shall be made within thirty (30) days of receipt of each invoice as to all non-
disputed fees. If the City disputes any of Consultant's Services or fees, it shall 
give written notice to Consultant within thirty (30) days of receipt of an invoice of 
any disputed fees set forth on the invoice.  Any final payment under this 
Agreement shall be made within forty-five (45) days of receipt of an invoice 
therefor. 

6. SUSPENSION OR TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT WITHOUT CAUSE 

A. The City may at any time, for any reason, without cause, suspend or terminate 
this Agreement, or any portion hereof, by serving written notice upon Consultant. 
Upon receipt of said notice, Consultant shall immediately cease all Services under 
this Agreement, unless the notice provides otherwise. If the City suspends or 
terminates a portion of this Agreement, such suspension or termination shall not 
make void or invalidate the remainder of this Agreement. 

B. In the event this Agreement is terminated pursuant to this section, the City shall 
pay to Consultant the actual value of the Services performed up to the time of 
termination, unless the City disputes any of the Services performed or fees. Upon 
termination of the Agreement pursuant to this section, Consultant will submit an 
invoice to the City pursuant to Section 5. 

7. DEFAULT OF CONSULTANT 

If the City determines that Consultant is in default in the performance of any of the terms 
or conditions of this Agreement, the City shall serve Consultant a written notice of the 
default. Consultant shall have seven (7) days after service of said notice to cure the 
default. In the event that Consultant fails to cure the default within such period of time 
or fails to present the City with a written plan for the diligent cure of default if such default 
cannot be cured within seven days, the City shall have the right, notwithstanding any 
other provision of this Agreement, to terminate this Agreement without further notice 
and without prejudice to any other remedy to which it may be entitled at law, in equity 
or under this Agreement.  The City shall also have the right to offset against the amount 
of any fees due to Consultant any costs incurred by the City as a result of Consultant’s 
default.  

8. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS 

A. Consultant shall maintain complete and accurate records with respect to tasks, 
costs, expenses, receipts, and other such information required by the City that 
relate to the performance of Services under this Agreement. Consultant shall 
maintain adequate records of Services provided in sufficient detail to permit an 
evaluation of Services.  All such records shall be maintained in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles and shall be clearly identified and readily 



   3 

accessible. Consultant shall provide free access to the representatives of the City 
or its designees at reasonable times to such books and records; shall give the 
City the right to examine and audit said books and records; shall permit the City 
to make transcripts or copies therefrom as necessary; and shall allow inspection 
of all Services, data, documents, proceedings, and activities related to this 
Agreement. Such records, together with supporting documents, shall be 
maintained for a period of three (3) years after receipt of final payment. 

B. Upon completion of, or in the event of termination or suspension of this 
Agreement, all original documents, designs, drawings, maps, models, computer 
files, surveys, notes, and other documents prepared in the course of providing the 
Services shall become the sole property of the City and may be used, reused, or 
otherwise disposed of by the City without the permission of Consultant. With 
respect to computer files, Consultant shall make available to the City, at the 
Consultant's office and upon reasonable written request by the City, the 
necessary computer software and hardware for purposes of accessing, compiling, 
transferring, copying and/or printing computer files. Consultant hereby grants to 
the City all right, title, and interest, including any copyright, in and to the 
documents, designs, drawings, maps, models, computer files, surveys, notes, and 
other documents prepared by Consultant in the course of providing the Services 
under this Agreement. 

9. INDEMNIFICATION AND DEFENSE 

A. Indemnity.  

To the fullest extent permitted by law, Consultant shall indemnify and hold 
harmless the City and any and all of its officials, officers, employees, agents, 
and/or volunteers (“Indemnified Parties”) from and against any and all losses, 
liabilities, damages, costs and expenses, including attorney’s fees and costs, 
caused in whole or in part by the acts, errors, or omissions of Consultant, its 
officers, agents, employees, subcontractors, or subconsultants (or any agency or 
individual that Consultant shall bear the legal liability thereof) in the performance 
of Services under this Agreement.  

 
B. Duty to Defend. 

 In the event the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, and/or volunteers 
are made a party to any claim, action, lawsuit, or other adversarial proceeding 
(“Action”) arising from the performance of the Services under this Agreement, 
whether or not Consultant is named in such Action, and upon demand by the City, 
Consultant shall defend the City at Consultant’s sole cost, or at the City’s option, 
to reimburse the City for its costs of defense, including reasonable attorney’s fees 
and costs incurred in the defense.  

 
C. Payment by the City for Services is not a condition precedent to enforcement of 

this section. Consultant’s duty to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the City 



   4 

shall not extend to the City’s sole or active negligence.  In the event of any dispute 
between Consultant and the City as to whether liability arises from the sole or 
active negligence of the City or its officials, officers, employees, agents, and/or 
volunteers, Consultant will be obligated to pay for the City’s defense until such time 
as a final judgment has been entered adjudicating the City as solely or actively 
negligent. Consultant will not be entitled in the absence of such a determination to 
any reimbursement of defense costs including, but not limited to, attorney’s fees, 
expert fees and costs of litigation. 

 
10. INSURANCE 

Consultant shall maintain prior to the beginning of and for the duration of this Agreement 
insurance coverage as specified in Exhibit B attached hereto and made a part of this 
Agreement. 

 
11. INDEPENDENT CONSULTANT 

A. Consultant is and shall at all times remain as to the City a wholly independent 
consultant and/or independent contractor. The personnel performing the services 
under this Agreement on behalf of Consultant shall at all times be under 
Consultant's exclusive direction and control. Neither the City nor any of its officers, 
employees, or agents shall have control over the conduct of Consultant or any of 
Consultant's officers, employees, agents, subcontractors, or subconsultants, 
except as set forth in this Agreement. Consultant shall not at any time or in any 
manner represent that Consultant or any of Consultant’s officers, employees,  
agents, subcontractors, or subconsultants are in any manner officers, employees, 
or agents of the City. Consultant shall not incur or have the power to incur any 
debt, obligation, or liability whatever against the City, or bind the City in any 
manner. 

B. No employee benefits shall be available to Consultant in connection with the 
performance of this Agreement. Except for the fees paid to Consultant as provided 
in the Agreement, the City shall not pay salaries, wages, or other compensation 
to Consultant for performing services hereunder for the City. The City shall not be 
liable for compensation or indemnification to Consultant for injury or sickness 
arising out of performing services hereunder. Consultant shall secure, at its sole 
expense, and be responsible for any and all payment of Income Tax, Social 
Security, State Disability Insurance Compensation, Unemployment 
Compensation, and other payroll deductions for Consultant and its officers, 
agents, and employees, and all business licenses, if any are required, in 
connection with the services to be performed hereunder. Consultant shall 
indemnify and hold the City harmless from any and all taxes, assessments, 
penalties, and interest asserted against the City by reason of the independent 
Consultant relationship created by this Agreement. Consultant further agrees to 
indemnify and hold the City harmless from any failure of Consultant to comply 
with the applicable worker’s compensation laws. The City shall have the right to 
offset against the amount of any fees due to Consultant under this Agreement as 



   5 

a result of Consultant’s failure to promptly pay to the City any reimbursement or 
indemnification arising under this paragraph. 

C. In the event that Consultant or any employee, agent, subcontractor, or 
subconsultant of Consultant providing Services under this Agreement claims or is 
determined by a court of competent jurisdiction or the California Public Employees 
Retirement System (PERS) to be eligible for enrollment in PERS as an employee 
of the City, Consultant shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the City for the 
payment of any employee and/or employer contributions for PERS benefits on 
behalf of Consultant or its employees, agents, subcontractors, or subconsultants, 
as well as for the payment of any penalties and interest on such contributions, 
which would otherwise be the responsibility of the City.  

D. Notwithstanding any other agency, state or federal policy, rule, regulation, law or 
ordinance to the contrary, Consultant and any of its employees, agents, 
subcontractors, and subconsultants providing service under this Agreement shall 
not qualify for or become entitled to, and hereby agree to waive any claims to, any 
compensation, benefit, or any incident of employment by the City, including but 
not limited to eligibility to enroll in PERS as an employee of the City and 
entitlement to any contribution to be paid by City for employer contribution and/or 
employee contributions for PERS benefits. 

12. LEGAL RESPONSIBILITIES 

Consultant shall keep itself informed of State and Federal laws and regulations which in 
any manner affect those employed by it or in any way affect the performance of Services 
pursuant to this Agreement. Consultant shall at all times observe and comply with all 
such laws and regulations. The City and its officials, officers, employees, and agents, 
shall not be liable at law or in equity occasioned by failure of Consultant to comply with 
this Section. 

 
13. UNDUE INFLUENCE 

Consultant declares and warrants that no undue influence or pressure was used against 
or in concert with any officer or employee of the City in connection with the award, terms 
or implementation of this Agreement, including any method of coercion, confidential 
financial arrangement, or financial inducement. No officer or employee of the City has or 
will receive compensation, directly or indirectly, from Consultant, or from any officer, 
employee or agent of Consultant, in connection with this Agreement or any Services to 
be conducted as a result of this Agreement.  Violation of this section shall be a material 
breach of this Agreement entitling the City to any and all remedies at law or in equity. 

 
14. NO BENEFIT TO ARISE TO LOCAL EMPLOYEES 

No member, officer, or employee of the City, or their designees or agents, and no public 
official who exercises authority over or responsibilities with respect to the Services during 
his/her tenure or for one year thereafter, shall have any interest, direct or indirect, in any 



   6 

Agreement or sub-agreement, or the proceeds thereof, for Services to be performed 
under this Agreement. 

 
15. RELEASE OF INFORMATION/CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

A. All information gained by Consultant in performance of this Agreement shall be 
considered confidential and shall not be released by Consultant without the City's 
prior written authorization, unless the information is clearly public. Consultant, its 
officers, employees, agents, subcontractors, or subconsultants, shall not without 
written authorization from the City Manager or designee, or unless requested by 
the City’s attorney, voluntarily provide declarations, letters of support, testimony 
at depositions, response to interrogatories, or other information concerning the 
Services performed under this Agreement or relating to the City. Response to a 
subpoena or court order shall not be considered “voluntary” provided Consultant 
gives the City notice of such court order or subpoena.  

B. Consultant shall promptly notify the City should Consultant, its officers, 
employees, agents, subcontractors, and/or subconsultants be served with any 
summons, complaint, notice of deposition, request for documents, interrogatories, 
request for admissions, or other discovery request (“Discovery”), court order, or 
subpoena from any person or party regarding this Agreement and the Services 
performed hereunder or the City, unless the City is a party to any lawsuit, 
arbitration, or administrative proceeding connected to such Discovery, or unless 
Consultant is prohibited by law from informing the City of such Discovery. The 
City retains the right, but has no obligation, to represent Consultant and/or be 
present at any deposition, hearing, or similar proceeding as allowed by law. 
Unless the City is a party to the lawsuit, arbitration, or administrative proceeding 
and is adverse to Consultant in such proceeding, Consultant agrees to cooperate 
fully with the City and to provide the opportunity to review any response to 
discovery requests provided by Consultant. However, the City's right to review 
any such response does not imply or mean the right by the City to control, direct, 
or rewrite said response, or that the City has an obligation to review any such 
response or verifies any response it has reviewed. 

16. NOTICES 

Any notices which either party may desire to give to the other party under this 
Agreement must be in writing and may be given either by (i) personal service, (ii) 
delivery by a reputable document delivery service, such as but not limited to, 
Federal Express, which provides a receipt showing date and time of delivery, or 
(iii) mail by the United States Postal Service, certified mail, postage prepaid, return 
receipt requested, addressed to the address of the party as set forth below or at 
any other address as that party may later designate by notice: 
 
 
 
 



   7 

  To the City:  City of Lakewood  
     5050 Clark Avenue 
     Lakewood, CA 90712 
     Attention:  City Manager 
   
  To Consultant: 636 North Carolina Ave, SE 
     Washington, DC 20003 
     Attention: Jayson Braude, Esq.    
      
17. ASSIGNMENT 

Consultant shall not assign the performance of this Agreement, nor any part thereof, nor 
any monies due hereunder, without prior written consent of the City. Before retaining or 
contracting with any subcontractor or subconsultant for any services under this 
Agreement, Consultant shall provide the City with the identity of the proposed 
subcontractor or subconsultant, a copy of the proposed written contract between 
Consultant and such subcontractor or subconsultant which shall include and indemnity 
provision similar to the one provided herein and identifying the City as an indemnified 
party, or an incorporation of the indemnity provision provided herein, and proof that such 
proposed subcontractor or subconsultant carries insurance at least equal to that required 
by this Agreement or obtain a written waiver from the City for such insurance. 

 
18. LICENSES 

At all times during the term of this Agreement, Consultant shall have in full force and effect 
all licenses required of it by law for the performance of the Services described in this 
Agreement. 

 
19. GOVERNING LAW 

The City and Consultant understand and agree that the laws of the State of California 
shall govern the rights, obligations, duties, and liabilities of the parties to this Agreement 
and also govern the interpretation of this Agreement. Any litigation concerning this 
Agreement shall take place in the municipal, superior, or federal district court with 
jurisdiction over the City. 

 
20. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

This Agreement contains the entire understanding between the parties relating to the 
obligations of the parties described in this Agreement. All prior or contemporaneous 
agreements, understandings, representations, and statements, oral or written and 
pertaining to the subject of this Agreement or with respect to the terms and conditions of 
this Agreement shall be of no further force or effect. Each party is entering into this 
Agreement based solely upon the representations set forth herein and upon each party’s 
own independent investigation of any and all facts such party deems material. 
 
 



   8 

21. AMENDMENTS 

Any amendments to this Agreement must be in writing and executed by the parties hereto, 
or their respective successors and assigns, in order to be valid. 
 
22. ATTORNEYS’ FEES 

In the event that litigation is brought by any party in connection with this Agreement, the 
prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the opposing party all costs and 
expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred by the prevailing party in the 
exercise of any of its rights or remedies hereunder or the enforcement of any of the terms, 
conditions, or provisions hereof. 

23. CONSTRUCTION 

The parties hereto have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this 
Agreement.  In the event an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises with 
respect to this Agreement, this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the 
parties and in accordance with its fair meaning.  There shall be no presumption or burden 
of proof favoring or disfavoring any party by virtue of the authorship of any of the 
provisions of this Agreement. 

24. WAIVER 

The delay or failure of any party at any time to require performance or compliance by the 
other of any of its obligations or agreements shall in no way be deemed a waiver of those 
rights to require such performance or compliance.  No waiver of any provision of this 
Agreement shall be effective unless in writing and signed by a duly authorized 
representative of the party against whom enforcement of a waiver is sought. The waiver 
of any right or remedy in respect to any occurrence or event shall not be deemed a waiver 
of any right or remedy in respect to any other occurrence or event, nor shall any waiver 
constitute a continuing waiver.   

25. SEVERABILITY 

If any provision of this Agreement is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be 
unenforceable in any circumstance, such determination shall not affect the validity or 
enforceability of the remaining terms and provisions hereof or of the offending provision 
in any other circumstance. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the value of this Agreement, 
based upon the substantial benefit of the bargain for any party, is materially impaired, 
which determination made by the presiding court or arbitrator of competent jurisdiction 
shall be binding, then both parties agree to substitute such provision(s) through good faith 
negotiations. 

 

 



   9 

26. COUNTERPARTS 

This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be 
deemed an original. All counterparts shall be construed together and shall constitute one 
agreement. 

27. AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE THIS AGREEMENT 

The persons executing this Agreement on behalf of the parties warrant and represent that 
they have the authority to execute this Agreement on behalf of said parties and have the 
authority to bind the parties to the provisions of this Agreement. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed 
as of the Effective Date. 
 
[If Consultant is a corporation, two signatures are required: Signature 1 – the Chairperson of the Board, 
the President, or any Vice President; Signature 2 – the Secretary, any Assistant Secretary, the Chief 
Financial Officer, or any Assistant Treasurer (Corp. Code § 313).] 

 
CITY OF LAKEWOOD      CONSULTANT     
 

 
____________________________   ____________________________ 
City Manager 
 
 
ATTEST:      CONSULTANT 
 
 
______________________   _________________________ 
City Clerk       
        
   
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
______________________ 
City Attorney 
 
 
Attachments:   Exhibit A Consultant’s Proposal 
   Exhibit B Insurance Requirements   



 

EXHIBIT A 
 

CONSULTANT’S PROPOSAL 
  



Kiley &  
       Associates 
	
	
September 8, 2023 
 
Mr. Thaddeus McCormack 
City Manager 
City of Lakewood 
5050 Clark Avenue 
Lakewood, CA  90712 
  
Dear Mr. McCormack, 
 
We have really enjoyed working with the City of Lakewood at the Federal level in Washington, 
DC.  As we continue our work here at the nation's capital, we are excited to propose extending our 
agreement until June 30, 2024. 
 
With Kiley & Associates’ established Washington, DC presence, deep California connections, 
focused methodology and extensive experience in representing governmental entities, we are 
uniquely qualified to continue our work with Lakewood. 
 
Kiley & Associates Background 
 
For more than a decade, Kiley & Associates has offered a wide range of services to a variety of 
organizations across many industry sectors.  These include local governments, states, businesses, 
corporations, nonprofits and trade associations.  We have provided government relations services 
in Washington, DC to some of the largest and most complex governmental entities in the country; 
helped clients successfully achieve policy, regulatory, and funding goals; and assisted others to 
envision and then implement multi-year, multi-million-dollar development projects.  Our in-depth 
substantive knowledge combined with our creativity, hard work and reputation for integrity has 
earned us the trust of longstanding clients.  We’re proud that clients think of us as an integral part 
of their operations, capable of delivering the services they need when they need them. 
 
Scope of Services 
 
Kiley & Associates will continue to collaborate with Lakewood to open doors in Washington, DC 
and help develop their federal legislative priorities.  Our partnership would include: 

• Working with the City to raise their profile with the California House and Senate 
delegation, federal agencies and the Biden Administration; 

• Coordinating with the dedicated day-to-day point of contact on identifying and refining 
local governments top project and policy priorities for their federal agenda (i.e. securing 
federal and state money for recreation and park projects, 5g telecommunications, water 
infrastructure, policing and public safety, roadway expansion, street repairs, tourism and 
policymaking); 

• Building support for the City’s objectives and resource needs within Congress and target 
key allies and influential lawmakers, committees and Executive branch policy makers; 



Kiley &  
       Associates 
	
	

• Coordinating an annual trip to Washington, DC to meet with the Congressional delegation, 
Biden Administration and key staff in the federal agencies;  

• Helping the City with any issues that have a federal nexus, which may include providing 
comments on federal regulations, securing letters of support for grant applications, 
connecting local officials to federal agency professionals to maximize opportunities for 
success. 
 

Kiley & Associates will continue to collaborate with Lakewood to create a federal government 
funding and outreach program.  The focus will be on developing a plan to apply for earmarks and 
targeted funding within specific federal agencies and developing crucial relationships with 
program managers responsible for administering target grants. 
 
Kiley & Associates Team  
 
Gregory T. Kiley-President, Kiley & Associates  
 
Gregory Kiley is President of Kiley & Associates, LLC.  Since retiring from federal service, he 
has consulted to federal, state and local governments, and industry and non-profit entities on 
national security policy and processes.  He has written for the Center for Strategic and 
International Studies among others. 
 
Prior to working in the private sector, Mr. Kiley served 25 years in the federal government, 
concentrating on local governments, defense and national security.  He spent six years as a senior 
professional staff member for the Senate Armed Services Committee.  As lead staff for two 
subcommittees, his oversight portfolio included all military air and ground systems, military 
logistics and readiness, and the defense budget.  His responsibilities included coordinating and 
conducting congressional hearings, developing and drafting legislation, and negotiating and 
staffing passage of annual National Defense Authorization Acts and supplemental spending bills.  
 
Mr. Kiley began his professional career in the U.S. Air Force, culminating as a senior pilot, 
flying C-130 aircraft and deploying throughout the world.  Greg also held positions as a wing 
plans officer, maintenance officer, and information management officer.  Greg lives in 
Washington, D.C. with his wife and daughters. 
 
Jayson J. Braude-Chief Counsel, Kiley and Associates  
 
Jayson Braude is the Chief Counsel to Kiley and Associates.  Jayson Braude grew up in the Los 
Angeles area and is the Grandson of former United States Congressman Glenn Anderson.  
Jayson worked for United States Senators Kent Conrad and Sherrod Brown in Washington D.C.  
After law school, he worked as Legislative Counsel for United States Congresswoman Janice 
Hahn, where he staffed the Congresswoman on the House Transportation and Infrastructure 
Committee.  He then became the District Director for Congresswoman Nannette Diaz Barragan 
in her San Pedro office.  Jayson has over ten-years of experience in government affairs and 
maintains contacts all over Capitol Hill and throughout federal, state and local agencies.  Jayson 



Kiley &  
       Associates 
	
	
is a graduate of the UC Santa Barbara and received his law degree from Southwestern Law 
School in Los Angeles.  Jayson is a member of the Washington Bar and resides in Washington, 
D.C. 
 
Kimberly J. VanWyhe-Vice President, Kiley & Associates 
 
Kimberly is currently Vice President of Kiley & Associates, focusing on business development 
and policy and strategy development.  Kimberly received her BA in Political Science from St. 
John’s University in 2004 and received her MBA in International Business with a concentration 
in consulting and holds a certification in Global Oil and Gas Management from the Thunderbird 
School of Global Management.  Kimberly’s previous professional experience includes working 
on multiple political campaigns on both the state and federal level, working for the Alaska State 
Legislature as well as working for the Cohen Group, a defense-oriented consulting firm founded 
by former Secretary of Defense William Cohen.  She then served as the Director of Energy 
Policy at the American Action Forum, a D.C. think tank focusing on economic, domestic, and 
fiscal policy issues.  Kimberly was raised in Fairbanks, Alaska and currently resides in 
Washington D.C.   
 
Kiley & Associates would very much welcome the opportunity to continue our work with 
Lakewood.  Should you decide to renew our agreement, our monthly retainer for our services 
remain at the current amount of $3,750 per month. 
 
Thank you for taking the time to review this proposal.  Please do not hesitate to contact me directly 
with any questions. 
 
Very respectfully, 
 
Jayson Braude, Esq. 
Chief Counsel  
 
Kiley & Associates, LLC 
636 North Carolina Ave, SE 
Washington, DC  20003 
562-818-6646 
 



 

EXHIBIT B 
 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 
 

Without limiting Consultant’s indemnification of the City, and prior to commencement of 
Services, Consultant shall obtain, provide, and maintain at its own expense during the 
term of this Agreement, policies of insurance of the type and amounts described below 
and in a form satisfactory to the City. If the Consultant maintains higher limits than the 
minimum limits shown below, the City requires and shall be entitled to coverage for the 
higher limits maintained by Consultant. Any available insurance proceeds in excess of 
the specified minimum limits of insurance and coverage shall be available to the City. 
 
General liability insurance. Consultant shall maintain commercial general liability 
insurance with coverage at least as broad as Insurance Services Office form CG 00 01, 
in an amount not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence, $2,000,000 general aggregate, 
for bodily injury, personal injury, and property damage. The policy must include 
contractual liability that has not been amended. Any endorsement restricting standard 
ISO “insured contract” language will not be accepted.  
 
Automobile liability insurance. Consultant shall maintain automobile insurance at least 
as broad as Insurance Services Office form CA 00 01 covering bodily injury and property 
damage for all activities of the Consultant arising out of or in connection with Work to be 
performed under this Agreement, including coverage for any owned, hired, non-owned or 
rented vehicles, in an amount not less than $1,000,000 combined single limit for each 
accident.  
 
Consultant shall submit to the City, along with the certificate of insurance, a Waiver of 
Subrogation endorsement in favor of the City, its officers, agents, employees, and 
volunteers. 
 
Umbrella or excess liability insurance. Consultant shall obtain and maintain an 
umbrella or excess liability insurance policy with limits that will provide bodily injury, 
personal injury and property damage liability coverage at least as broad as the primary 
coverages set forth above, including commercial general liability, automobile liability, and 
employer’s liability. Such policy or policies shall include the following terms and 
conditions: 
 

 A drop-down feature requiring the policy to respond if any primary insurance 
that would otherwise have applied proves to be uncollectible in whole or in 
part for any reason;  

 Pay on behalf of wording as opposed to reimbursement;   

 Concurrency of effective dates with primary policies;  

 Policies shall “follow form” to the underlying primary policies; and 

 Insureds under primary policies shall also be insureds under the umbrella 
or excess policies. 

 



 

Other provisions or requirements 
 
Proof of insurance. Consultant shall provide certificates of insurance to the City as 
evidence of the insurance coverage required herein, along with a waiver of subrogation 
endorsement for workers’ compensation. Insurance certificates and endorsements must 
be approved by the City’s Risk Manager prior to commencement of performance. Current 
certification of insurance shall be kept on file with the City at all times during the term of 
this Agreement. The City reserves the right to require complete, certified copies of all 
required insurance policies at any time.  
 
Duration of coverage. Consultant shall procure and maintain for the duration of the 
Agreement insurance against claims for injuries to persons or damages to property, which 
may arise from or in connection with the performance of the Services hereunder by 
Consultant, or Consultant’s agents, representatives, employees, subcontractors, or 
subconsultants.  
 
Primary/noncontributing. Coverage provided by Consultant shall be primary and any 
insurance or self-insurance procured or maintained by the City shall not be required to 
contribute with it. The limits of insurance required herein may be satisfied by a 
combination of primary and umbrella or excess insurance. Any umbrella or excess 
insurance shall contain or be endorsed to contain a provision that such coverage shall 
also apply on a primary and non-contributory basis for the benefit of the City before the 
City’s own insurance or self-insurance shall be called upon to protect it as a named 
insured. 
 
The City’s rights of enforcement. In the event any policy of insurance required under 
this Agreement does not comply with these specifications or is canceled and not replaced, 
the City has the right but not the duty to obtain the insurance it deems necessary and any 
premium paid by the City will be promptly reimbursed by Consultant or the City will 
withhold amounts sufficient to pay premium from Consultant payments. In the alternative, 
the City may immediately terminate this Agreement. 
 
Acceptable insurers. All insurance policies shall be issued by an insurance company 
currently authorized by the Insurance Commissioner to transact business of insurance or 
is on the List of Approved Surplus Line Insurers in the State of California, with an assigned 
policyholders’ Rating of A- (or higher) and Financial Size Category Class VII (or larger) in 
accordance with the latest edition of Best’s Key Rating Guide, unless otherwise approved 
by the City’s Risk Manager. 
 
Waiver of subrogation. All insurance coverage maintained or procured pursuant to this 
Agreement shall be endorsed to waive subrogation against the City, its elected or 
appointed officers, agents, officials, employees and volunteers or shall specifically allow 
Consultant or others providing insurance evidence in compliance with these specifications 
to waive their right of recovery prior to a loss. Consultant hereby waives its own right of 
recovery against the City, and shall require similar written express waivers and insurance 
clauses from each of its subcontractors or subconsultants. 



 

 
Enforcement of Agreement provisions (non estoppel). Consultant acknowledges and 
agrees that any actual or alleged failure on the part of the City to inform Consultant of 
non-compliance with any requirement imposes no additional obligations on the City nor 
does it waive any rights hereunder. 
 
Requirements not limiting. Requirements of specific coverage features or limits 
contained in this Agreement are not intended as a limitation on coverage, limits or other 
requirements, or a waiver of any coverage normally provided by any insurance. Specific 
reference to a given coverage feature is for purposes of clarification only as it pertains to 
a given issue and is not intended by any party or insured to be all inclusive, or to the 
exclusion of other coverage, or a waiver of any type.  
 
Notice of cancellation. Consultant agrees to oblige its insurance agent or broker and 
insurers to provide to the City with a thirty (30) day notice of cancellation (except for 
nonpayment for which a ten (10) day notice is required) or nonrenewal of coverage for 
each required coverage. 
 
Additional insured status. General liability policies shall provide or be endorsed to 
provide that the City and its officers, officials, employees, agents, and volunteers shall be 
additional insureds under such policies. This provision shall also apply to any 
excess/umbrella liability policies. 
 
Prohibition of undisclosed coverage limitations. None of the coverages required 
herein will be in compliance with these requirements if they include any limiting 
endorsement of any kind that has not been first submitted to the City and approved of in 
writing. 
 
Separation of insureds. A severability of interests provision must apply for all additional 
insureds ensuring that Consultant’s insurance shall apply separately to each insured 
against whom claim is made or suit is brought, except with respect to the insurer’s limits 
of liability. The policy(ies) shall not contain any cross-liability exclusions. 
 
Pass through clause. Consultant agrees to ensure that its subcontractors or 
subconsultants, and any other party involved with the Services who is brought onto or 
involved in the Services by Consultant, provide the same minimum insurance coverage 
and endorsements required of Consultant. Consultant agrees to monitor and review all 
such coverage and assumes all responsibility for ensuring that such coverage is provided 
in conformity with the requirements of this section. Consultant agrees that upon request, 
all agreements with Consultants, subcontractors, subconsultants, and others engaged in 
the Services will be submitted to the City review. 
 
The City’s right to revise specifications. The City reserves the right at any time during 
the term of the Agreement to change the amounts and types of insurance required by 
giving Consultant ninety (90) days advance written notice of such change. If such change 
results in substantial additional cost to Consultant, the City and Consultant may 



 

renegotiate Consultant’s compensation or come to some other agreement to address the 
additional cost. 
 
Self-insured retentions. Any self-insured retentions must be declared to and approved 
by the City. The City reserves the right to require that self-insured retentions be 
eliminated, lowered, or replaced by a deductible. Self-insurance will not be considered to 
comply with these specifications unless approved by the City.  
 
Timely notice of claims. Consultant shall give the City prompt and timely notice of claims 
made or suits instituted that arise out of or result from Consultant’s performance under 
this Agreement, and that involve or may involve coverage under any of the required 
liability policies. 
 
Additional insurance. Consultant shall also procure and maintain, at its own cost and 
expense, any additional kinds of insurance, which in its own judgment may be necessary 
for its proper protection and prosecution of the Services.   

 













REVISED 

RI-9 

COUNCIL AGENDA 
October 24, 2023 

 
 
 
TO:  The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
SUBJECT: Lakewood Equestrian Center Management and Operations 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 
Before the City Council is a report on the future management and operation of the Lakewood 
Equestrian Center (LEC) and a request to approve contractual agreements and funding to provide 
continuity in services for horse boarding, care and training; horse riding lessons; and equestrian 
activities, which invite the greater Lakewood community to engage in equine and outdoor 
education.  This report also details past and current management of the LEC and the circumstances, 
which have contributed to the city’s need be more directly involved in LEC operations.   
 
STATEMENT OF FACT 
The city is the owner and licensee of the LEC property, and will assume management of the 
equestrian center beginning November 1, 2023. The Caretaker Management Agreement with 
Sonya Jahn dba SJ Equestrian LLC (SJE) ends on October 31, 2023. Managing the LEC is a 
challenging task, made even more so because of county, state and federal regulations that must be 
followed and to which the city is legally bound to carry out as the owner and licensee of the LEC. 
To help meet all of those regulations and other complexities of running an equestrian center, the 
city has decided that it must take on a more direct role in the management of the LEC.  
  
In support of the future management plan, the city will contract with D. Joy Gould dba Hacienda 
Sosegado to provide horse boarding care which includes daily feeding of horses in boarding and 
daily cleaning of boarding units.  Hacienda Sosegado will also serve in a consulting role to city 
staff and provide customer service support to horse boarders, horse trainers and vendors at the 
LEC. Ms. Gould is an equestrian specialist, experienced in the day-to-day operations of managing 
horse stables and comes highly recommended as the current manager of the Whittier Narrows 
Equestrian Center.  
 
LEC HistoryRI-9 
An equestrian facility has been on the property since 1946 when Glenn Spiller purchased the land 
and adorned it the Lakewood Stables. Spiller sold the property to Juan de Cordova in January 1976 
and the city purchased the property from Juan de Cordova on December 28, 1979 using Land and 
Water Conservation Funds. Mr. de Cordova continued managing the LEC until the city’s lease 
agreement began with Sandie Mercer Ranch, Inc. in May of 1987.  
 
  



Lakewood Equestrian Center Management and Operations  
October 24, 2023 
Page 2 
 
 
Request for Proposal and Request for Qualifying Information 
From that time to October of 2020, Sandie Mercer Ranch, Inc. coordinated equestrian activities 
and boarding facilities for horses at the Lakewood Equestrian Center (LEC). Anticipating the end 
of the contractual agreement between the city and Sandie Mercer Ranch, Inc., in 2019, the city 
solicited a Request for Proposals seeking an individual, company, or organization with proven 
equestrian management experience, equine care and maintenance expertise, and the financial 
ability to fund capital improvements to maintain a full service equestrian facility for public 
boarding, equine training, and recreational uses. The city offered a long-term lease option in hopes 
of enticing a qualified lessee to invest in the facility and have the time to realize a fair market 
return on their investment. 
 
The result of that process did not conclude with finding an entity that met the required 
qualifications the city sought after. The city did receive several proposals from individuals 
interested in continuing existing programs and facilities, but not having the capital needed for 
necessary facility improvements. The lack of interest for a private investment in exchange for a 
long-term lease was due to several factors. The LEC is encumbered with a Southern California 
Edison (Edison) right-of-way for electrical towers and power lines down the middle of the property 
and Edison will only provide the city with a license agreement in five-year increments and has 
restricted the type of uses that can be made under the utility’s lines. The facility also lacked quality 
maintenance and an investment in capital improvements over the three decades it was operated by 
Sandie Mercer Ranch, Inc. The deferred maintenance of the LEC during this time resulted in 
extraordinary estimated expenses for capital improvements to bring the facility up to safety 
standards and building and safety codes and provide the type of horse boarding stalls, barns, arenas, 
and equestrian amenities necessary to successfully operate a full-service equestrian center. 
 
While the city did receive interest from qualified investors, none submitted a proposal indicating 
concerns that their investment would not be returned due to Edison’s restricted use of the site; cost 
of capital improvements; and the fact that the facility is on public property and subject to the 
California Public Contract Code and prevailing wage requirements.  Additionally, the competitive 
market rates charged for boarding and training proved to be insufficient to cover the costs of 
operations and provide a return on capital investment. 
 
Failing to receive a proposal for private investment in exchange for a long-term lease, beginning 
November 1, 2020, the city decided to enter into an interim caretaker management agreement with 
SJE. This agreement maintained existing services and programs offered at the LEC and gave the 
city time to make critical improvements so that the facility met safety, building, and environmental 
codes. All the while, the City continued its quest for a long-term lessee and private investment in 
the facility by publishing a Request for Qualifications and Interest (RFQI).  The RFQI was 
marketed on a local, state and national level through equestrian industry magazines and newsletters 
for six months allowing potential responders sufficient time to research the facility and determine 
their interest.  This period was congruent with the city’s timed progress report with the interim 
caretaker and provided the city adequate time to explore other options should the RFQI fail to yield 
desired results.  



Lakewood Equestrian Center Management and Operations  
October 24, 2023 
Page 3 
 
 
Responses to the RFQI were due to the city in May 2021, with no success in garnering a proposal, 
which matched the city’s interest.  In fact, only one proposal was received and it was received past 
the advertised due date. Staff reviewed the proposal despite its late submission and determined 
that the proposal did not demonstrate the ability to invest in the capital improvements needed at 
the facility and the proposer’s terms were not congruent with the best interest of the city. 
 
SJ Equestrian LLC. 
Extending the terms and conditions of the Interim Caretaker Management Contract for Lakewood 
Equestrian Center, SJE continued to manage the equestrian activities and boarding facilities for 
horses at the Lakewood Equestrian Center. The 19-acre facility operates seven days a week from 
dawn to dusk to serve the local equine community along with neighborhood youth groups. The 
equestrian center’s primary functions are horse boarding, horse training and providing riding 
lessons. There are approximately 150 horses currently boarded at the facility. Through sub-
contracted services, the equestrian center also offers a petting zoo, pony rides, camps, birthday 
parties and youth education in equine care.  
 
Given the known challenges of managing a private entity on public property, the complexities of 
adhering to the contractual requirements of the Edison License Agreement and the difficulties of 
securing a long-term lessee, the city will assume managerial and administrative oversight of the 
LEC at the conclusion of the current agreement with SJE. 
 
LEC Management and Operation 
The city will invite all current LEC personnel, equestrian trainers and vendors to continue serving 
the LEC community. Most of all the current boarding rates and the cost for feed will remain in 
place for the first six months of the city’s management.  Staff will assess and propose rate 
adjustments following a six-month analysis of all revenue and expenses.  
 
City staff are actively preparing to take on the management and operations of the LEC. Newly 
drafted agreements for horse boarding, horse training and vendors are being developed.  Part-time 
city employees are being recruited and trained to assist with administrative and maintenance task. 
The need for equipment and supplies are being identified and purchased.  Vendor accounts are 
being set up with equine suppliers, utility companies and contractors to perform specialized work. 
 
Staff will continue to keep the LEC community informed by hosting quarterly user meetings 
including an initial information meeting on Wednesday, October 25.  The upcoming meeting will 
update all current users at the LEC of the roles and responsibilities of the city, Hacienda Sosegado 
and current users beginning November 1, 2023. 
 
Financial Impact 
Using the average boarding occupancy numbers and rates, trailer parking fees collected and 
revenue share from the petting zoo and pony ride operation, the city estimates revenue totals for 
the remaining eight months of the current fiscal year to be approximately $1,024,760. 
 



Lakewood Equestrian Center Management and Operations  
October 24, 2023 
Page 4 
 
 
As the city assumes its leadership, startup expenses are estimated at $70,500. Items to be purchased 
include maintenance supplies, office furniture, facility signage, a utility vehicle, a storage bin, 
security cameras, and other miscellaneous supplies such as employee uniforms. 
 
Estimated expenses also include contracted services to be provided by Hacienda Sosegado. 
Hacienda Sosegado will bill the city semi-monthly for their professional services depending on 
the number of horses in boarding. The city will enter into an agreement with Hacienda Sosegado 
beginning November 1, 2023, for an eighteen-month period ending April 30, 2025, at a contracted 
rate not to exceed $390,114 for the total eighteen-month term of the agreement. The expense for 
services from Hacienda Sosegado for the remaining eight months of the current fiscal year is 
$173,384. 
 
Additional expenses for the remaining eight months of the current fiscal year are tabled below. 
Contracted Skilled Trade Work $35,000 
City Part-time Personnel $                 143,862 

 
Utilities and Contract Services for trash and manure removal $ 152,640 
*Edison License Agreement $42,788.73 
Special Supplies including feed, shavings, fuel and rental of portable 
restroom 

$543,700 

*The city’s expense for the Southern California Edison License Agreement is approved in the 
current fiscal year’s budget and due to Edison on January 1, 2024.  Staff will reassign these funds 
to the expense account created for the city’s management of the Lakewood Equestrian Center. No 
additional funds need approval to fulfill this obligation. 
 
The estimated expenditures for the city’s management of the LEC do not account for any planned 
capital improvement projects including, but not limited to: tack shed and locker replacement; horse 
boarding stall replacement; new fencing for horse riding arenas; new paved driveways; and annual 
maintenance of the footing in each of the nine arenas. The financial investment needed to fund 
capital improvement projects at the LEC requires a facilities condition assessment conducted by a 
qualified business entity who has an expertise in equestrian facility design, construction and 
maintenance. 
 
Absent the city’s startup expenses, the total estimated operating expenses for the city to manage 
and operate the LEC is approximately $1,091,374.73 for the remaining eight months of the current 
fiscal year. Although, the estimated expenditures depict a shortfall of $66,614.73, continuity of 
service at the LEC is a goal. The city’s financial obligations could be offset by renting the arenas, 
the addition of horses boarding at the facility and a revised fee structure after staff’s initial 6-month 
analysis. 
 
  





 

Page 1 of 14 
Professional Services Agreement_Hacienda Sosegado LLC_Lakewood Equestrian Center 

 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENT 
WITH D. JOY GOULD DBA HACIENDA SOSEGADO, LLC 

FOR LAKEWOOD EQUESTRIAN CENTER 
 
This professional service agreement (“Agreement”) is made and effective as of October 24, 2023, 
between City of Lakewood ("City"), a municipal corporation, and D. Joy Gould, DBA Hacienda 
Sosegado, LLC (“Contractor”), with reference to the following facts: 

A. City is the owner and licensee of the certain real property located at 11369 East Carson 
Street, Lakewood, California 90715 and commonly referred to as the Lakewood 
Equestrian Center. 

 
B. The Lakewood City Council has authorized and approved use of the property for 

equestrian recreation uses including horse boarding and equine activities. 
 

C. This Agreement is not a lease of Premises, and has no real property interest or possessory 
interest value. The purpose of this Agreement is to provide management services of the 
approved uses at the Lakewood Equestrian Center under the direction of City. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, City, for and in consideration of the performance of the covenants and 
agreements hereinafter contained, to be kept and performed by Contractor, and upon the 
following terms and conditions, hereby contracts with Contractor to manage facility operations, 
subject to the following terms and conditions: 

 
1. TERM. This Agreement shall commence on November 1, 2023, and shall remain and 

continue in effect until tasks described herein are completed, but in no event later than 
April 30, 2025 unless sooner terminated pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement. 
 

2. SERVICES. In response to City’s request for an equestrian center manager, Contractor 
shall perform the tasks described and set forth in City’s Equestrian Center Manager Scope 
of Work (“Scope of Work”), attached hereto as [Exhibit A]  and incorporated herein as 
though set forth in full.  

 
3. PERFORMANCE. Contractor shall furnish and use, at Contractor’s own expense, all 

labor, equipment and materials necessary for the satisfactory performance of the work set 
forth in this Agreement. Contractor shall at all times faithfully, competently, and to the best 
of Contractor’s ability, experience, and talent, perform all tasks described herein. 
Contractor shall employ, at a minimum, generally accepted standards and practices utilized 
by persons engaged in providing similar services as are required of Contractor hereunder 
in meeting Contractor’s obligations under this Agreement. 

 
4. CITY REPRESENTATIVE . City’s Recreation and Community Services Department 

Director shall represent City in all matters pertaining to the administration of this 
Agreement, review and approve all products submitted by Contractor, but not including 
the authority to enlarge Scope of Work or change the compensation due to Contractor. 
City’s Recreation and Community Services Department Director shall be authorized to act 



 

Page 2 of 14 
Professional Services Agreement_Hacienda Sosegado LLC_Lakewood Equestrian Center 

 

on City's behalf and to execute all necessary documents which enlarge Scope of Work or 
change Contractor's compensation, subject to Section 5 hereof. 

 
5. PAYMENT.  

A. City agrees to pay Contractor on a semi-monthly pay schedule providing two 
payments per month. Distribution of payments is based upon completion of Scope 
of Work, in accordance with Contractor’s Fee for Required Services, at a monthly 
rate as described below: 

 Less than 100 horses in boarding care = $14,825 per month  
 101 to 119 horses in boarding care = $17,108 per month 
 120 to 139 horses in boarding care = $19,391 per month 
 Above 140 horses in boarding care = $21,673 per month 

This amount shall not exceed $390,114 for the total term of the Agreement unless 
additional payment is approved as provided in this Agreement. 

B. Contractor shall not be compensated for any services rendered in connection with 
Contractor’s performance of this Agreement which are in addition to those set forth 
herein, unless such additional services are authorized in advance and in writing by 
City. Contractor shall be compensated for any additional services in the amounts 
and in the manner as agreed to by City and Contractor at the time City's written 
authorization is given to Contractor for the performance of said services.  

C. Contractor shall submit an invoice for actual services performed. Invoice shall be 
submitted as soon thereafter as practical, for services provided. Payment shall be 
made within seven (7) days of receipt of invoice as to all non-disputed fees. If City 
disputes any of Contractor's fees, it shall give written notice to Contractor within 
seven (7) days of receipt of an invoice of any disputed fees set forth on the invoice. 
Any final payment under this Agreement shall be made within forty-five (45) days 
of receipt of an invoice therefore. 

 
6. TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT. 

A. Except as otherwise provided herein below, either party may terminate this 
Agreement, or any portion hereof, by serving written notice of termination upon 
the other party at least ten (10) days prior to the date of termination. Upon receipt 
of said notice, Contractor shall immediately cease all work under this Agreement, 
unless the notice provides otherwise. If City terminates a portion of this Agreement, 
such termination shall not make void or invalidate the remainder of this Agreement. 

B. In the event this Agreement is terminated pursuant to this section, City shall pay to 
Contractor the actual value of the work performed up to the time of termination, 
less any disputed amounts. Upon termination of the Agreement pursuant to this 
section, Contractor will submit an invoice to City as provided herein above. 

 
7. DEFAULT. 

A. Either party's failure to comply with the provisions of this Agreement shall 
constitute a default. In the event that either party is in default for cause under the 
terms of this Agreement, the affected party shall promptly notify the deficient party 
of such default and following such notice shall have no obligation or duty to 
continue compensating or providing any work after the date of default and can 



 

Page 3 of 14 
Professional Services Agreement_Hacienda Sosegado LLC_Lakewood Equestrian Center 

 

terminate this Agreement immediately by written notice to the other party. If such 
failure hereunder arises out of causes beyond either party’s control, and without 
fault or negligence, it shall not be considered a default.  

B. If City determines Contractor is in default in the performance of any of the terms 
or conditions of this Agreement, City shall cause to be served upon Contractor a 
written notice of the default. Contractor shall have ten (10) days after service of 
default notice to cure the default as directed by City in the notice of default. In the 
event Contractor fails to cure Contractor’s default within such period of time, City 
shall have the right, notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, to 
terminate this Agreement without further notice and without prejudice to any other 
remedy to which it may be entitled at law, in equity or under this Agreement. 

 
8. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS. 

A. Contractor shall maintain complete and accurate records with respect to sales, costs, 
expenses, receipts, and other such information required by City that relate to the 
performance of services under this Agreement. Contractor shall maintain adequate 
records of services provided in sufficient detail to permit an evaluation of services. 
All such records shall be maintained in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles and shall be clearly identified and readily accessible. 
Contractor shall provide free access to City at reasonable times to such books and 
records; shall give City the right to examine and audit said books and records; shall 
permit City to make transcripts or copies therefrom as necessary; and shall allow 
inspection of all work, data, documents, proceedings, and activities related to this 
Agreement. Such records, together with supporting documents, shall be maintained 
for a period of three (3) years after receipt of final payment. 

B. In the event of termination of this Agreement, copies of all original documents, 
designs, drawings, maps, models, computer files, surveys, notes, and other 
documents prepared in the course of providing the services to be performed 
pursuant to this Agreement shall become the sole property of City and may be used, 
reused, or otherwise disposed of by City without the permission of Contractor. With 
respect to computer files, Contractor shall make available to City, at Contractor's 
office and upon reasonable written request by City, the necessary computer 
software and hardware for purposes of accessing, compiling, transferring, copying 
and/or printing computer files. Contractor hereby grants to City all right, title, and 
interest, including any copyright, in and to the documents, designs, drawings, maps, 
models, computer files, surveys, notes, and other documents prepared by 
Contractor in the course of providing the services under this Agreement. 

 
9. INDEMNIFICATION AND DEFENSE. 

A. Indemnification. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor shall 
indemnify and hold harmless City and any and all of its officials, employees, 
agents, and/or volunteers (“Indemnified Parties”) from and against any and all 
losses, liabilities, damages, costs, and expenses, including attorney’s fees and costs, 
caused in whole or in part by the negligent or wrongful act, error or omission of 
Contractor, Contractor’s officers, agents, employees or subcontractors (or any City 
or individual that Contractor shall bear the legal liability thereof) in the 



 

Page 4 of 14 
Professional Services Agreement_Hacienda Sosegado LLC_Lakewood Equestrian Center 

 

performance of services under this Agreement. Contractor’s duty to indemnify and 
hold harmless City shall not extend to City’s sole or active negligence or willful 
misconduct. 

B. Duty to defend. In the event the Indemnified Parties, individually or collectively, 
are made a party to any action, lawsuit, or other adversarial proceeding arising from 
the performance of the services encompassed by this Agreement, and upon demand 
by City, Contractor shall defend the Indemnified Parties at Contractor’s cost or at 
City’s option, to reimburse City for its costs of defense, including reasonable 
attorney’s fees and costs incurred in the defense of such matters to the extent the 
matters arise from, relate to or are caused by Contractor’s negligent acts, errors or 
omissions. Payment by City is not a condition precedent to enforcement of this 
provision. In the event of any dispute between Contractor and City, as to whether 
liability arises from the sole or active negligence or willful misconduct of City or 
its officers, employees, or agents, Contractor will be obligated to pay for City’s 
defense until such time as a final judgment has been entered adjudicating the 
Indemnified Parties as solely or actively negligent or to have acted with willful 
misconduct. Contractor will not be entitled in the absence of such a determination 
to any reimbursement of defense costs including but not limited to attorney’s fees, 
expert fees, and costs of litigation. 

 
10. INSURANCE. Contractor shall maintain prior to the beginning of and for the duration of 

this Agreement insurance coverage as specified in [Exhibit B] attached herewith and 
incorporated herein by this reference as though set forth in full. 

 
11. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR. 

A. Contractor is and shall at all times remain as to City, a wholly independent 
contractor. The personnel performing the services under this Agreement on behalf 
of Contractor shall at all times be under Contractor's exclusive direction and 
control. Neither City nor any of its officers, employees, or agents shall have control 
over the conduct of Contractor or any of Contractor's officers, employees, or agents, 
except as set forth in this Agreement. Contractor shall not at any time or in any 
manner represent that it or any of Contractor’s officers, employees, or agents are in 
any manner officers, employees, or agents of City. Contractor shall not incur or 
have the power to incur any debt, obligation, or liability whatever against City, or 
bind City in any manner. 

B. No employee benefits shall be available to Contractor in connection with the 
performance of this Agreement. Except for the fees paid to Contractor as provided 
in the Agreement, City shall not pay salaries, wages, or other compensation to 
Contractor and/or Contractor’s employees for performing services hereunder for 
City. City shall not be liable for compensation or indemnification to Contractor for 
injury or sickness to Contractor’s employee(s) arising out of performing services 
hereunder. 

 
12. LEGAL RESPONSIBILITIES. Contractor shall keep informed of local, state, and 

federal laws and regulations which in any manner affect those employed by it or in any 
way affect the performance of Contractor’s service pursuant to this Agreement. Contractor 



 

Page 5 of 14 
Professional Services Agreement_Hacienda Sosegado LLC_Lakewood Equestrian Center 

 

shall at all times observe and comply with all such laws and regulations. City, and its 
officers and employees, shall not be liable at law or in equity occasioned by failure of 
Contractor to comply with this section. 

 
13. UNDUE INFLUENCE. Contractor declares and warrants that no undue influence or 

pressure was used against or in concert with any officer or employee of City in connection 
with the award, terms, or implementation of this Agreement, including any method of 
coercion, confidential financial arrangement, or financial inducement. No officer or 
employee of City has or will receive compensation, directly or indirectly, from Contractor, 
or from any officer, employee, or agent of Contractor, in connection with the award of this 
Agreement or any work to be conducted as a result of this Agreement. Violation of this 
section shall be a material breach of this Agreement entitling City to any and all remedies 
at law or in equity. 

 
14. NO BENEFIT TO ARISE TO CITY EMPLOYEES. During Contractor’s tenure and 

for one year thereafter, no member, officer, or employee of City, or Contractor’s designees 
or agents, and no public official who exercises authority over or responsibilities with 
respect to the services under this Agreement shall have any interest, direct or indirect, in 
any agreement or sub-agreement, or the proceeds thereof, for work to be performed in 
connection with the services performed under this Agreement. 

 
15. RELEASE OF INFORMATION/CONFLICTS OF INTEREST. 

A. All information gained by Contractor in performance of this Agreement shall be 
considered confidential and shall not be released by Contractor without City's prior 
written authorization. Contractor, Contractor’s officers, employees, agents, or 
subcontractors, shall not without written authorization from City or unless 
requested by City, voluntarily provide declarations, letters of support, testimony at 
depositions, response to interrogatories, or other information concerning the work 
performed under this Agreement or relating to any project or property located 
within City. Response to a subpoena or court order shall not be considered 
"voluntary" provided Contractor gives City notice of such court order or subpoena.  

B. Contractor shall promptly notify City should Contractor, Contractor’s officers, 
employees, agents, or subcontractors be served with any summons, complaint, 
subpoena, notice of deposition, request for documents, interrogatories, request for 
admissions, or other discovery request (“Discovery”), court order, or subpoena 
from any person or party regarding this Agreement and the work performed 
thereunder or with respect to any project or property located within City, unless 
City is a party to any lawsuit, arbitration, or administrative proceeding connected 
to such Discovery, or unless Contractor is prohibited by law from informing City 
of such Discovery. City retains the right, but has no obligation, to represent 
Contractor and/or be present at any deposition, hearing, or similar proceeding as 
allowed by law. Unless City is a party to the lawsuit, arbitration, or administrative 
proceeding and is adverse to Contractor in such proceeding, Contractor agrees to 
cooperate fully with City and to provide the opportunity to review any response to 
Discovery requests provided by Contractor. However, City's right to review any 



 

Page 6 of 14 
Professional Services Agreement_Hacienda Sosegado LLC_Lakewood Equestrian Center 

 

such response does not imply or mean the right by City to control, direct, or rewrite 
said response. 

 
16. ASSIGNMENT. 

A. Contractor shall not assign the performance of this Agreement, nor any part thereof, 
nor any monies due hereunder, without prior written consent of City. Due to the 
personal nature of the services to be rendered pursuant to this Agreement, only 
Contractor shall perform the services described in this Agreement.  

B. Before retaining or contracting with any subcontractor for any services under this 
Agreement, Contractor shall provide City with the identity of the proposed 
subcontractor, a copy of the proposed written contract between Contractor and such 
subcontractor which shall include an indemnity provision identical to the one 
provided herein identifying City as an indemnified party, or an incorporation of the 
indemnity provision provided herein, and proof that such proposed subcontractor 
carries insurance at least equal to that required by this Agreement or obtain a written 
waiver from City for such insurance.  

 
17. LICENSES. At all times during the term of this Agreement, Contractor shall have in full 

force and effect, all licenses required of it by law for the performance of the services 
described in this Agreement. 
 
Contractor agrees to provide City with current copies of said licenses and permits and with 
copies as they are renewed. 
 

18. GOVERNING LAW. City and Contractor understand and agree that the laws of the State 
of California shall govern the rights, obligations, duties, and liabilities of the parties to this 
Agreement and also govern the interpretation of this Agreement. Any litigation concerning 
this Agreement shall take place in the municipal, superior, or federal district court with 
jurisdiction over City. 

 
19. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement contains the entire understanding between the 

parties relating to the obligations of the parties described in this Agreement. All prior or 
contemporaneous agreements, understandings, representations, and statements, oral or 
written and pertaining to the subject of this Agreement or with respect to the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement, are merged into this Agreement and shall be of no further 
force or effect. Each party is entering into this Agreement based solely upon the 
representations set forth herein and upon each party's own independent investigation of any 
and all facts such party deems material. 

 
20. SEVERABILITY. Any part, provision, or representation of this Agreement or any of its 

exhibits, including, but not limited to [Exhibit B], which is held to be invalid, void or 
unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, shall be limited to that part, provision 
or representation and all other parts, provisions, or representations herein shall remain in 
full force and effect. 

 



 

Page 7 of 14 
Professional Services Agreement_Hacienda Sosegado LLC_Lakewood Equestrian Center 

 

21. AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE THIS AGREEMENT. The person or persons executing 
this Agreement on behalf of Contractor warrants and represents that they have the authority 
to execute this Agreement on behalf of Contractor and have the authority to bind Contractor 
to the performance of Contractor’s obligations hereunder. 



 

Page 8 of 14 
Professional Services Agreement_Hacienda Sosegado LLC_Lakewood Equestrian Center 

 

NOTICES. Any notice required to be given hereunder shall be deemed to have been given by 
depositing said notice in the United States mail in an envelope bearing the proper amount of 
postage thereon, and addressed as follows: 
 

To CITY:   City of Lakewood 
      Attention Director of Recreation and Community Services 
      5050 Clark Avenue, Lakewood, CA 90712 

 
To CONTRATOR:  D. Joy Gould DBA Hacienda Sosegado, LLC  

       23746 California Avenue 
       Hemet, CA 92545 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed 
this day and year first above written. 

 
         CITY OF LAKEWOOD 
 
 
         _______________________________ 
         MAYOR 
 
 
         ATTEST: 
 
 
         _______________________________ 
         City Clerk 
 
 APPROVED AS TO FORM:  
 
 
 _______________________________ 
 City Attorney 
 
        D. Joy Gould DBA, Hacienda Sosegado, LLC 
 
 
         By______________________________ 
 
         ________________________________ 
         Title 

 
Attachments:    

Exhibit A – Equestrian Center Manager Scope of Work 
Exhibit B - Insurance Requirements 



 

Page 9 of 14 
Professional Services Agreement_Hacienda Sosegado LLC_Lakewood Equestrian Center 

 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENT 
WITH D. JOY GOULD DBA HACIENDA SOSEGADO, LLC 

EQUESTRIAN CENTER MANAGER 
 

EXHIBIT A 
EQUESTRIAN CENTER MANAGER SCOPE OF WORK 

 
POSITION: Equestrian Center Manager - Contractor 
DEPARTMENT: Recreation and Community Services 
REPORTS TO: Director of Recreation and Community Services 
SUMMARY: The Lakewood Equestrian Center is a 19-acre facility where equestrian enthusiasts 
participate in a variety of activities, including riding lessons, horse training and a petting zoo. The 
Lakewood Equestrian Center is open 7 days a week from dawn to dusk and serves the local equine 
community along with neighborhood youth groups. The facility offers a variety of unique services 
for both rider and horse.  The equestrian center’s primary functions are boarding and training 
horses and providing riding lessons. 
 
DUTIES and RESPONSIBILITIES: 
 Meet with the Director of Recreation and Community Services weekly to discuss facility 

operations 
 Assist with the development of horse boarding, trailer parking, equine training and vendor 

contracts and rates  
 Assist with the development of procedures for billing and accounts receivables for horse 

boarding, trailer parking, equine training and vendor contracts 
 Assist city staff with measuring and relabeling each boarding unit 
 Assist with the development of rules for all areas within the facility to ensure the safety of 

users and visitors 
 Assist with the development for procedures for businesses coming onto the facility to 

provide specialized services, including but not limited to veterinarian and farrier services 
 Assist with a schedule for use of riding rings, arenas and turnouts by horse boarders and 

equine trainers 
 Assist with the development of new facility signage, including new signage for all horse 

boarding units 
 Assist with the implementation of purchasing agreements with suppliers for quality hay 

and feed, bedding and necessary equine supplies deemed necessary for facility operations 
 Assist with the development of facility rules for boarders, vendors, businesses and the 

public 
 Assist with the development of a security plan for the facility 
 Assist with the managerial oversight of boarding, trailer parking, equine training and 

vendor contracts 
 Assist with verification of billing for all services provided at the facility and accounts 

receivable  
 Assist with the management of the City’s approved budget for supplies, equipment and 

facility repair 
 Provide the personnel and equipment necessary to ensure the day-to-day cleaning and 

maintenance of all horse boarding units, including waterers and feeding buckets 



 

Page 10 of 14 
Professional Services Agreement_Hacienda Sosegado LLC_Lakewood Equestrian Center 

 

 Recruit, hire, train, schedule, supervise and evaluate contracted staff performing day-to-
day cleaning and maintenance of all boarding units 

 Follow federal, state, and local laws when it comes to managing employees and 
maintaining a safe work environment.  

 Ensure for the health and welfare of all animals through an effective health process for 
boarders and those coming into the facility for day use 

 Develop standards for vaccination of animals boarded at the facility as well as quarantine 
protocols for any sick animals 

 Provide written and verbal reports to Director of Recreation and Community Services 
issues and concerns related to the health and safety of the horses in boarding at the facility 

 Ensure efficient disposal of all waste in compliance with governmental regulations 
 Serve as the initial point of contact for users associated with horse boarding, trailer parking, 

equine training and/or vendors at the facility 
 Provide customer service to the general public, responding to inquiries and answering 

questions related to facility operations 
 Respond to problems or emergency situations as they arise 
 Work collaboratively with the city’s office and maintenance staff 
 Identify pest issues at the facility and report to maintenance staff 
 Identify and report to the Director of Recreation and Community Services any safety 

concerns, equipment which needs repair or replacement as well as facility infrastructure in 
need of repair 

 Maintain horse boarding records of all horses on site for which Contractor provides 
services 

 Maintain a record of feeding, supplements, nutritional needs and/or medications necessary 
for all boarded horses on site for which Contractor provides services 

 Obtain trailer parking records for all trailers parked on site from city staff 
 Maintain a valid California driver's license for self and ensure the same of all contractor’s 

employees who drive in the performance of their work on the facility 
 Provide a monthly spreadsheet detailing the expenses due from facility users for horse 

boarding, trailer parking, and revenue share from approved businesses at the facility 
 Provide a weekly list of supplies, to be ordered by City 
 Schedule, advertise, prepare agenda and led quarterly meetings for horse boarders, trailer 

parking renters, equine trainers and vendors 
 Confirm programs and activities occurring on the facility are approved, permitted and/or 

contracted by the City 
 Provide recommendations for programs, activities and events to the Director of Recreation 

and Community Services for city approval 
  



 

Page 11 of 14 
Professional Services Agreement_Hacienda Sosegado LLC_Lakewood Equestrian Center 

 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENT 
WITH D. JOY GOULD DBA HACIENDA SOSEGADO, LLC 

EQUESTRIAN CENTER MANAGER 
 

EXHIBIT B 
INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 
Without limiting Contractor’s indemnification of City, and prior to commencement of work and/or 
services under this Agreement, Contractor shall obtain, provide, and maintain at Contractor’s own 
expense during the term of this Agreement, policies of insurance of the type and amounts described 
below and in a form satisfactory to City.  
 
Commercial General Liability Insurance using Insurance Services Office “Commercial General 
Liability” policy form CG 00 01 or the exact equivalent. Defense costs must be paid in addition to 
limits. There shall be no cross liability exclusion for claims or suits by one insured against another 
(e.g. the “Insured v. Insured” exclusion). Limits shall be no less than $1,000,000 per occurrence 
for all covered losses and no less than $2,000,000 general aggregate. 
 
Commercial Equine General Liability Insurance, to the extent the Commercial General 
Liability policy obtained pursuant to Section 17.A. above, does not include the management of 
equine operations. Contractor shall procure and maintain, at Contractor’s sole costs and expense, 
comprehensive Commercial Equine General Liability Insurance in the single limit minimum 
amount of $1,000,000 per occurrence and an aggregate in the amount of $2,000,000. 
 
Workers’ compensation insurance. Contractor shall maintain Workers’ Compensation 
Insurance (statutory limits) and Employer’s Liability insurance (with limits of at least $1,000,000). 
Contractor shall submit to City, along with the certificate of insurance, a Waiver of Subrogation 
endorsement in favor of City, its officers, agents, employees, and volunteers. 
 
Automobile liability insurance. Contractor shall maintain automobile insurance at least as broad 
as Insurance Services Office form CA 00 01 covering bodily injury and property damage for all 
activities of Contractor arising out of or in connection with Work to be performed under this 
Agreement, including coverage for any owned, hired, non-owned, or rented vehicles, in an amount 
not less than 1,000,000 combined single limit for each accident.  
 
If Contractor owns no vehicles that will be utilized in the performance of Contractor’s obligations 
pursuant to this Agreement, the insurance requirement may be satisfied by a non-owned auto 
endorsement to the commercial general liability policy described above. 
 
Professional liability (errors & omissions) insurance. Contractor shall maintain professional 
liability insurance that covers the services to be performed in connection with this Agreement, in 
the minimum amount of $1,000,000 per claim and in the aggregate. Any policy inception date, 
continuity date, or retroactive date must be before the effective date of this Agreement and 
Contractor agrees to maintain continuous coverage through a period no less than three years after 
completion of the services required by this Agreement. 
 



 

Page 12 of 14 
Professional Services Agreement_Hacienda Sosegado LLC_Lakewood Equestrian Center 

 

Other provisions and/or requirements 
1. Proof of insurance. Contractor shall provide certificates of insurance and required 

endorsements to City as evidence of the insurance coverage required herein. Insurance 
certificates and endorsements must be approved by City’s Risk Manager prior to 
commencement of performance. Current certification of insurance shall be kept on file with 
City for the contract period and any additional length of time required thereafter. City 
reserves the right to require complete, certified copies of all required insurance policies, at 
any time.  
 

2. Duration of coverage. Contractor shall procure and maintain for the contract period, and 
any additional length of time required thereafter, insurance against claims for injuries to 
persons or damages to property, or financial loss which may arise from or in connection 
with the performance of the Work hereunder by Contractor, Contractor’s agents, 
representatives, employees, or subcontractors.  

 
3. Primary/noncontributing. Coverage provided by Contractor shall be primary and any 

insurance or self-insurance procured or maintained by City shall not be required to 
contribute with it. The limits of insurance required herein may be satisfied by a 
combination of primary and umbrella or excess insurance. Any umbrella or excess 
insurance shall contain or be endorsed to contain a provision that such coverage shall also 
apply on a primary and non-contributory basis for the benefit of City before City’s own 
insurance or self- insurance shall be called upon to protect it as a named insured. 

 
4. City’s rights of enforcement. In the event any policy of insurance required under this 

Agreement does not comply with these specifications or is canceled and not replaced, City 
has the right but not the duty to obtain the insurance it deems necessary, and any premium 
paid by City will be promptly reimbursed by Contractor or City will withhold amounts 
sufficient to pay premium from Contractor payments. In the alternative, City may cancel 
this Agreement. 

 
5. Acceptable insurers. All insurance policies shall be issued by an insurance company 

currently authorized by the Insurance Commissioner to transact business of insurance or is 
on the List of Approved Surplus Line Insurers in the State of California, with an assigned 
policyholders’ Rating of A- (or higher) and Financial Size Category Class VII (or larger) 
in accordance with the latest edition of Best’s Key Rating Guide, unless otherwise 
approved by City. 

 
6. Waiver of subrogation. All insurance coverage maintained or procured pursuant to this 

Agreement shall be endorsed to waive subrogation against City, its elected or appointed 
officers, agents, officials, employees, and volunteers or shall specifically allow Contractor 
or others providing insurance evidence in compliance with these specifications to waive 
their right of recovery prior to a loss. Contractor hereby waives Contractor’s own right of 
recovery against City and shall require similar written express waivers and insurance 
clauses from each of Contractor’s subcontractors. 

 



 

Page 13 of 14 
Professional Services Agreement_Hacienda Sosegado LLC_Lakewood Equestrian Center 

 

7. Enforcement of contract provisions (non estoppel). Contractor acknowledges and agrees 
that any actual or alleged failure on the part of City to inform Contractor of non-compliance 
with any requirement imposes no additional obligations on City nor does it waive any rights 
hereunder. 

 
8. Requirements not limiting. Requirements of specific coverage features or limits 

contained in this Section are not intended as a limitation on coverage, limits or other 
requirements, or a waiver of any coverage normally provided by any insurance. Specific 
reference to a given coverage feature is for purposes of clarification only as it pertains to a 
given issue and is not intended by any party or insured to be all inclusive, or to the exclusion 
of other coverage, or a waiver of any type. If Contractor maintains higher limits than the 
minimums shown above, City requires and shall be entitled to coverage for the higher limits 
maintained by Contractor. Any available insurance proceeds in excess of the specified 
minimum limits of insurance and coverage shall be available to City. 

 
9. Notice of cancellation. Contractor agrees to oblige Contractor’s insurance agent or broker 

and insurers to provide City with a thirty (30) day notice of cancellation (except for 
nonpayment for which a ten (10) day notice is required) or nonrenewal of coverage for 
each required coverage. If any of Contractor’s insurers are unwilling to provide such notice, 
then Contractor shall have the responsibility of notifying City immediately in the event of 
Contractor’s failure to renew any of the required insurance coverages, or insurer’s 
cancellation or non-renewal. 

 
10. Additional insured status. General liability, automobile liability, and umbrella/excess 

liability insurance policies shall provide or be endorsed to provide that City and its officers, 
officials, employees, agents, and volunteers shall be additional insureds under such 
policies. 

 
11. Prohibition of undisclosed coverage limitations. None of the coverages required herein 

will be in compliance with these requirements if they include any limiting endorsement of 
any kind that has not been first submitted to City and approved of in writing. 

 
12. Separation of insureds. A severability of interests provision must apply for all additional 

insureds ensuring that Contractor’s insurance shall apply separately to each insured against 
whom claim is made or suit is brought, except with respect to the insurer’s limits of 
liability. The policy(ies) shall not contain any cross-liability exclusions. 

 
13. Pass through clause. Contractor agrees to ensure that Contractor’s subcontractors and any 

other party who is brought onto or involved in the project/service by Contractor, provide 
the same minimum insurance coverage and endorsements required of Contractor under this 
Agreement. Contractor agrees to monitor and review all such coverage and assumes all 
responsibility for ensuring that such coverage is provided in conformity with the 
requirements of this section. However, in the event Contractor’s subcontractor cannot 
comply with this requirement, which proof must be submitted to City, Contractor may still 
be able to utilize the subcontractor provided Contractor shall be required to ensure that 
Contractor’s subcontractor provide and maintain insurance coverage and endorsements 



 

Page 14 of 14 
Professional Services Agreement_Hacienda Sosegado LLC_Lakewood Equestrian Center 

 

sufficient to the specific risk of exposure involved with subcontractor’s scope of work and 
services, with limits less than that required of Contractor, but in all other terms consistent 
with Contractor’s requirements under this Agreement. This provision does not relieve 
Contractor of Contractor’s contractual obligations under the Agreement and/or limit 
Contractor’s liability to the amount of insurance coverage provided by Contractor’s 
subcontractors. This provision is intended solely to provide Contractor with the ability to 
utilize a subcontractor who may be otherwise qualified to perform the work or services but 
may not carry the same insurance limits as required of Contractor under this Agreement 
given the limited scope of work or services provided by the subcontractor. Contractor 
agrees that upon request, all agreements with subcontractors, and others engaged in the 
project and/or services, will be submitted to City for review. 
 

14. City’s right to revise specifications. City reserves the right at any time during the term of 
the contract to change the amounts and types of insurance required by giving Contractor 
sixty (60) days advance written notice of such change. If such change results in substantial 
additional cost to Contractor, City and Contractor may renegotiate Contractor’s 
compensation. 

 
15. Self-insured retentions. Any self-insured retentions must be declared to and approved by 

City. City reserves the right to require that self-insured retentions be eliminated, lowered, 
or replaced by a deductible, or require proof of ability to pay losses and related 
investigations, claim administration, and defense expenses within the retention through 
confirmation from the underwriter. 

 
16. Timely notice of claims. Contractor shall give City prompt and timely notice of claims 

made or suits instituted that arise out of or result from Contractor’s performance under this 
Agreement, and that involve or may involve coverage under any of the required liability 
policies. 

 
17. Additional insurance. Contractor shall also procure and maintain, at Contractor’s own 

cost and expense, any additional kinds of insurance, which in Contractor’s own judgment 
may be necessary for Contractor’s proper protection and prosecution of the work. 

 
 

 





 







RESOLUTION NO. 2023-66 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
LAKEWOOD, CALIFORNIA, CALLING FOR THE HOLDING 
OF A GENERAL MUNICIPAL ELECTION TO BE HELD ON 
TUESDAY, MARCH 5, 2024, FOR THE ELECTION OF 
CERTAIN OFFICERS AS REQUIRED BY THE PROVISIONS 
OF THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA RELATING 
TO GENERAL LAW CITIES 

 
 WHEREAS, under the provisions of the laws relating to General Law Cities in the State 
of California, a General Municipal Election shall be held on, March 5, 2024, for the election of 
Municipal Officers. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD, 
CALIFORNIA, DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 SECTION 1.  Pursuant to the requirements of the laws of the State of California relating 
to General Law Cities, there is called and ordered to be held in the City of Lakewood, California, 
on Tuesday, March 5, 2024, a General Municipal Election for the purpose of electing two (2) 
Members of the City Council from Districts 3 and 4 for the full term of four years. 
 
 SECTION 2.  The ballots to be used at the election shall be in form and content as 
required by law. 
 
 SECTION 3.  The City Clerk is authorized, instructed and directed to coordinate with the 
County of Registrar-Recorder/County Clerk (“County Registrar”) to procure and furnish any and 
all official ballots, notices, printed matter and all supplies, equipment and paraphernalia that may 
be necessary in order to properly and lawfully conduct the election. 
 
 SECTION 4.  The polls/vote centers, operated by the County Registrar, for the election 
shall be open as required during the identified voting period pursuant to Section 4007 and 14401 
of the Elections Code of the State of California. 
 
 SECTION 5.  In all particulars not recited in this resolution, the election shall be held and 
conducted as provided by law for holding municipal elections. 
 
 SECTION 6.  Notice of the time and place of holding the election is given and the City 
Clerk and County Registrar are authorized, instructed and directed to give further or additional 
notice of the election, in time, form and manner as required by law. 
 



Resolution No. 2023-66 
Page 2 
 
 
 SECTION 7.  The City Council authorizes the City Clerk to administer said election and 
all reasonable and actual election expenses shall be paid by the City upon presentation of a 
properly submitted bill. 
 
 SECTION 8.  The City Clerk shall certify to the passage and adoption of this Resolution 
and enter it into the book of original Resolutions. 
 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED THIS 24TH DAY OF OCTOBER, 2023. 
 
 
 
 ____________________________________ 
 Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-67 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
LAKEWOOD, CALIFORNIA, REQUESTING THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES TO 
CONSOLIDATE A GENERAL MUNICIPAL ELECTION TO BE 
HELD ON, MARCH 5, 2024, WITH THE STATEWIDE 
PRESIDENTIAL PRIMARY ELECTION 

 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Lakewood will hold a General Municipal 
Election to be held on March 5, 2024, for the purpose of the election of two (2) Members of the 
City Council; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is desirable that the General Municipal Election be consolidated with the 
Statewide Presidential Primary Election to be held on the same date and that within the City the 
precincts, polling places and election officers of the two elections be the same, and that the Los 
Angeles County Registrar-Recorder/County Clerk (“County Registrar”) canvass the returns of 
the General Municipal Election and that the election be held in all respects as if there were only 
one election; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Elections Code Section 10002 authorizes the City to request by resolution 
that the Board of Supervisors of Los Angeles County authorize the County Registrar to conduct 
specified election services. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD DOES 
HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 SECTION 1.  Pursuant to the requirements of Section 10403 of the Elections Code, the 
Board of Supervisors of the County of Los Angeles is hereby requested to consent and agree to 
the consolidation of a General Municipal Election with the Statewide Presidential Primary 
Election on Tuesday, March 5, 2024, for the purpose of the election of two (2) Members of the 
City Council from Districts 3 and 4 for the full term of four years. 
 
 SECTION 2.  The City Council requests the Board of Supervisors of the County of Los 
Angeles to direct the Registrar-Recorder/County Clerk to administer, manage and perform all 
necessary functions, services and tasks related to the complete and successful conduct of the 
consolidated election; including the provision of all election materials and equipment; the hiring, 
training and supervision of election workers and other election personnel; the printing and 
distribution of ballot materials; the translation of ballot materials in the required languages for 
the City of Lakewood; the collection of submitted ballots; the tallying of votes; and canvassing 
and certification of election results.  The election will be held in all respects as if there were only 
one election and only one form of ballot will be used.  The election will be held and conducted in 
accordance with the provisions of law regulating the statewide or special election. 



Resolution No. 2023-67 
Page 2 

 SECTION 3.  The Board of Supervisors is requested to consent and agree to the 
consolidation of the City of Lakewood’s General Municipal Election with the Statewide 
Presidential Primary Election to be held on March 5, 2024, and that the County of Los Angeles 
take any and all steps necessary for the holding of the consolidated election. 
 
 SECTION 4.  The City of Lakewood recognizes that additional costs will be incurred by 
the County by reason of this consolidation and agrees to reimburse the County for these costs. 
 
 SECTION 5.  The candidate nomination and filing process shall occur in the City of 
Lakewood for convenience of residents between the dates of November 13, 2023, and 
December 8, 2023, unless extended to December 13, 2023, in the event that an incumbent does 
not file, and shall be conducted by the City Clerk with the support of the County Registrar. 
 
 SECTION 6.  The City Clerk is hereby directed to file a certified copy of this resolution 
with the Board of Supervisors of the County of Los Angeles and the County Registrar. 
 
 SECTION 7.  The City Clerk shall certify to the passage and adoption of this resolution 
and enter it into the book of original resolutions. 
 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED THIS 24TH DAY OF OCTOBER, 2022. 
 
 
 
 ____________________________________ 
 Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-68 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
LAKEWOOD, CALIFORNIA, ADOPTING REGULATIONS 
FOR CANDIDATES FOR ELECTIVE OFFICE PERTAINING 
TO CANDIDATE STATEMENTS SUBMITTED TO THE 
VOTERS AT AN ELECTION TO BE HELD ON TUESDAY, 
MARCH 5, 2024 

 
 WHEREAS, Section 13307 of the Elections Code of the State of California provides that 
the governing body of any local agency adopt regulations pertaining to materials prepared by any 
candidate for a municipal election, including costs of the Candidate Statement. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LAKEWOOD, 
CALIFORNIA, DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 SECTION 1.  GENERAL PROVISIONS.  Pursuant to Section 13307 of the Elections 
Code of the State of California, each candidate for elective office to be voted for at an Election to 
be held in the City of Lakewood on March 5, 2024, may prepare a Candidate Statement on an 
appropriate form provided by the City Clerk.  The statement may include the name, age and 
occupation of the candidate and a brief description of no more than 200 words of the candidate’s 
education and qualifications expressed by the candidate himself or herself.  The statement shall 
not include party affiliation of the candidate, nor membership or activity in partisan political 
organizations.  The statement shall be filed in typewritten form in the office of the City Clerk at 
the time the candidate’s nomination papers are filed.  The statement may be withdrawn, but not 
changed, during the period for filing nomination papers and until 5:00 p.m. of the next working 
day after the close of the nomination period. 
 
 SECTION 2.  Pursuant to Section 13307(c) of the California Elections Code, the 
governing body of the City of Lakewood authorizes the preparation of candidate statements for 
nonpartisan elective office for the purpose of electronic distribution.  Candidates will prepare 
statements for electronic distribution pursuant to Section 13307(a) of the Elections Code.  A 
statement prepared pursuant to this subdivision shall be posted on the internet website of the 
County Elections Official. Pursuant to Section 13307.7(a) of the Elections Code, candidates shall 
provide payment of the requisite fee to cover the duties and procedures set forth in Sections 
13307(b) and (d) of the Elections Code. 
 
 SECTION 3.  FOREIGN LANGUAGE POLICY.  Pursuant to the Federal Voting Rights 
Act, the Candidate Statement shall be translated into all languages required by the County of Los 
Angeles.  The Los Angeles County Registrar-Recorder/County Clerk (“County Registrar”), will 
print and mail the voters’ pamphlet and candidate statements in all the required languages.  
Pursuant to State law, the candidates’ statements must be translated and printed in the voters’ 
pamphlet in any language at the candidates’ request.  The candidates will be required to pay for 
the actual cost of translating and printing their candidates’ statements into any required foreign 
language pursuant to Federal and/or State law, as specified, and into any other foreign language 
requested by the candidate. 
 



Resolution No. 2023-68 
Page 2 
 
 
 SECTION 4.  PAYMENT.  The City Clerk shall work with the County Registrar to 
estimate the total cost of printing, handling, translating, and mailing the Candidate Statements 
filed, including the costs incurred as a result of complying with the Voting Rights Act of 1965, 
as amended, and require each candidate filing a statement to pay in advance to the City of 
Lakewood his or her estimated pro rata share as a condition of having his or her statement 
included in the voters’ pamphlet.  The estimate is just an approximation of the actual cost that 
varies from one election to another election and may be significantly more or less than the 
estimate, depending on the actual number of candidates filing statements.  Accordingly, the City 
Clerk is not bound by the estimate and may, on a pro rata basis, bill the candidate for additional 
actual expense or refund any excess paid depending on the final actual cost.  In the event of 
underpayment, the City Clerk may require the candidate to pay the balance of the cost incurred.  
In the event of overpayment, the City Clerk shall prorate the excess amount among the 
candidates and refund the excess amount paid within 30 days of the election. 
 
 SECTION 5.  MISCELLANEOUS.  Translations shall be provided by professionally 
certified translators and the City Clerk and County Registrar shall comply with all 
recommendations and standards set forth by the California Secretary of State regarding 
occupational designations and other matters relating to elections. 
 
 SECTION 6.  ADDITIONAL MATERIALS.  No candidate will be permitted to include 
additional materials in the Official Sample Ballot Booklet/Voter Information Guide. 
 
 SECTION 7.  The City Clerk shall provide each candidate or the candidate’s 
representative a copy of this Resolution at the time nominating petitions are issued. 
 
 SECTION 8.  All previous resolutions establishing City Council policy on payment for 
Candidate Statements are repealed. 
 
 SECTION 9.  This resolution shall apply only to the election to be held on March 5, 
2024, and shall then be repealed. 
 
 SECTION 10.  The City Clerk shall certify to the passage and adoption of this resolution 
and enter it into the book of original resolutions. 
 

ADOPTED AND APPROVED THIS 24TH DAY OF OCTOBER, 2023. 
 
 
 
 ____________________________________ 
 Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
City Clerk 





 







Approve Change Order #1 with All Cities Engineering Inc. for FY 2024 Watermain 
Replacement - PW Project 23-07 
October 24, 2023 
Page 3 
 

 
 

 
 

 





















 








	24 October 2023 CC Agenda
	ADJ-1, City Hall Improvements
	ADJ-2, Equestrian Center Management and Operations
	RI-1, Minutes
	RI-2, Personnel Transactions
	RI-3, Registers of Demands
	RI-4, Committees' Activities
	RI-5, Monthly Investment Transactions
	RI-6, Quarterly Schedule of Investments
	RI-7, Agreement for Governmental Relations Services
	RI-8, Ratify Purchase of Bucket Truck
	RI-9, Equestrian Center Management and Operations
	2.1, Resolutions for 2024 Election
	3.1, Change Order for PW23-7
	3.2, Quarterly Budget Report
	3.3, 2023 Halloween Carnivals
	WC, GLA Vector Control District Appointment



